Chapter 4 The Sex Discrimination Act

Contents

4.1	Introduction to the SDA				
	4.1.1	Scope of the SDA	1		
	4.1.2	Limited application provisions	3		
		(a) Application of the SDA to external Territories	4		
		(b) Availability of the SDA to male complainants			
		(c) Marital status discrimination and giving effect to			
		CEDAW under s 9(10)	5		
4.2	Direct Discrimination Under the SDA				
	4.2.1	Causation, intention and motive	6		
	4.2.2	Direct sex discrimination			
	4.2.3	Direct marital status discrimination	9		
	4.2.4	Direct pregnancy discrimination			
		 (a) Relationship between pregnancy and sex discrimination (b) Maternity leave – direct discrimination on basis of 	on12		
		characteristic that appertains generally to pregnancy			
	4.2.5	Discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities	19		
4.3	Indirect Discrimination Under the SDA				
	4.3.1	Defining the 'condition, requirement or practice'	23		
	4.3.2	Disadvantaging	27		
	4.3.3	Reasonableness			
	4.3.4	The relationship between 'direct' and 'indirect' discrimination			
4.4	Specia	l Measures Under the SDA	32		
4.5	Areas of Discrimination				
	4.5.1	Provision of services and qualifying bodies			
	4.5.2	Clubs			
4.6	Sexual Harassment				
	4.6.1	Conduct of a sexual nature			
	4.6.2	Unwelcome conduct	40		
	4.6.3	Single incidents	42		
	4.6.4	The 'reasonable person' test			
	4.6.5	Sexual harassment as a form of sex discrimination			
	4.6.6	Sex-based harassment and sex discrimination			

4.7	Exemptions			
	4.7.1	Services for members of one sex	50	
	4.7.2	Voluntary bodies	50	
	4.7.3	Acts done under statutory authority		
	4.7.4	Competitive sporting activity		
4.8	Victim	nisation	53	
4.9	Vicari	ous Liability	55	
	4.9.1	Onus of Proof	55	
	4.9.2	'In connection with' employment	56	
	4.9.3	'All reasonable steps'		
	4.9.4	Vicarious liability for victimisation		
4.10	Aiding	g or Permitting an Unlawful Act	60	
		,		

The Sex Discrimination Act

4.1 Introduction to the SDA

4.1.1 Scope of the SDA

The SDA covers discrimination on the ground of:

- sex (defined in s 5);
- marital status (defined in s 6);
- pregnancy or potential pregnancy (defined in s 7); and
- family responsibilities (defined in s 7A).

The definitions of discrimination include both 'direct' and 'indirect' discrimination, with the exception of the definition of discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities, which is limited to direct discrimination.

Part II Divisions 1 and 2 of the SDA set out the areas of public life in which it is unlawful to discriminate on the ground of sex, marital status, and pregnancy or potential pregnancy. These include:

- employment and superannuation;¹
- education;²
- the provision of goods, services or facilities;³
- accommodation and housing;⁴
- buying or selling land;⁵
- clubs;⁶ and
- the administration of Commonwealth laws and programs.

Discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities is made unlawful only in dismissal from employment.⁸

Note that, unlike the RDA, DDA and ADA,⁹ the SDA does not bind the Crown in right of a State unless otherwise expressly provided.¹⁰ This is particularly relevant in relation to the prohibitions on discrimination in work (ss 14-20) which do not expressly provide that the Crown in right of a State is bound by those sections.

² Section 21.

¹ Section 14.

³ Section 22.

⁴ Section 23.

⁵ Section 24.

⁶ Section 25.

⁷ Section 26.

⁸ Section 14(3A).

⁹ See RDA s 6; DDA s 14; ADA s 13.

¹⁰ Section 12.

Sexual harassment is also covered by the SDA.11 Sexual harassment is any unwelcome sexual behaviour which makes a person feel offended or humiliated where that reaction is reasonable in the circumstances.

Like discrimination on the ground of sex, marital status and pregnancy or potential pregnancy, sexual harassment is unlawful in a broad range of areas of public life. 12

The SDA contains a number of permanent exemptions.¹³ The SDA also empowers HREOC to grant temporary exemptions from the operation of certain provisions of the Act.¹⁴ The precise scope and nature of a temporary exemption is determined by HREOC in each instance. Temporary exemptions are granted for a specified period not exceeding 5 years.15

The SDA does not make it an offence per se to do an act that is unlawful by reason of a provision of Part II.¹⁶ The SDA does, however, create the following specific offences.17

- Publishing or displaying an advertisement or notice that indicates an intention to do an act that is unlawful by reason of Part II of the SDA. 18
- Failing to provide the source of actuarial or statistical data on which an act of discrimination was based in response to a request, by notice in writing, from the President or HREOC.¹⁹
- Divulging or communicating particulars of a complaint of sexual harassment that has been lodged with HREOC in certain prescribed circumstances.20
- Committing an act of victimisation, 21 by subjecting, or threatening to subject, another person to any detriment on the ground that the other person:
 - has made, or proposes to make, a complaint under the SDA or HREOC Act:
 - has brought, or proposes to bring, proceedings under those
 - has given, or proposes to give, any information or documents to a person exercising a power or function under those Acts;
 - has attended, or proposes to attend, a conference or has appeared, or proposes to appear, as a witness in proceedings held under those Acts;

11 See pt II, div 3.
12 See sections 28B-28L.

¹⁴ Section 44. HREOC has developed criteria and procedures to guide the Commission in exercising its discretion under s 44 of the SDA. HREOC's guidelines and further information about the temporary exemptions granted by HREOC are available at:

¹³ See pt II, div 4.

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/exemptions/sda exemption/sda exemptions.html>.

Application may be made to the Administrative Appeals Tribunal for review of decisions made by HREOC under section 44: s 45.

¹⁶ Section 85.
17 See pt IV.

¹⁸ Section 86.

¹⁹ Section 87.

²⁰ Section 92. ²¹ Section 94(1).

- has reasonably asserted, or proposes to assert, any rights under those Acts: or
- has made an allegation that a person has done an act that is unlawful by reason of a provision of Part II of the SDA.²²
- Insulting, hindering, obstructing, molesting or interfering with a person exercising a power or performing a function under the SDA. 23

4.1.2 Limited application provisions

Section 9 of the SDA sets out the circumstances in which the Act applies.

Section 9(2) provides that '[s]ubject to this section, this Act applies throughout Australia.' Under s 9(1), 'Australia' includes the external Territories. It has been held, however, that the SDA does not have extraterritorial effect.²⁴

Section 9(3) provides that the SDA 'has effect in relation to acts done within a Territory.' Other than in ss 9(17) and (18) of the SDA, 'Territory' is defined as not including the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory.²⁵

Section 9(4) provides:

(4) The prescribed provisions of Part II, and the prescribed provisions of Division 3 of Part II, have effect as provided by subsection (3) of this section and the following provisions of this section and not otherwise.

The prescribed provisions of Part II set out the areas of public life in which discrimination is unlawful under the SDA.²⁶ The prescribed provisions of Division 3 of Part II, set out the areas of public life in which sexual harassment is unlawful under the SDA.²⁷

The effect of s 9(4) of the SDA is to limit the operation of these unlawful discrimination provisions to the particular circumstances set out in ss 9(5)-9(20). This ensures that the prescribed provisions of Part II are given effect throughout Australia to the extent that they fall within Commonwealth legislative power. The second reading speech for the Sex Discrimination Bill 1983 (Cth) confirms this understanding of s 9(4).28 While these circumstances are widely cast, it is nevertheless important for applicants to consider the requirements of s 9 in bringing an application under the SDA.

²⁴ See *Brannigan v Commonwealth* (2000) 110 FCR 566.

²⁷ Section 9(1).

²² Section 94(2). Note that the offence also occurs if a person is subjected to a detriment on the ground that the 'victimiser' believes that the person has done, or proposes to do, any of the things listed. ²³ Section 95.

²⁵ Section 4(1). Note that it does not follow that the SDA does not apply to acts done within the ACT or NT. It will do so in the circumstances set out in the remainder of s 9.

²⁶ Section 9(1).

²⁸ See, for example, South Pacific Resort Hotels Pty Ltd v Trainor (2005) 144 FCR 402, 405-406 [16]-[17] (Black CJ and Tamberlin J, Keifel J agreeing).

(a) Application of the SDA to external Territories

In *South Pacific Resort Hotels Pty Ltd v Trainor*,²⁹ the Full Federal Court held that the SDA applies generally to acts done in external Territories, such as Norfolk Island.

The Full Court in *Trainor* found that s 9(3) was unqualified in its terms and dealt with the application of the SDA generally. The fact that subsection (3) precedes those parts of section 9 that deal only with the prescribed provisions, and precedes subsection 9(4) itself, demonstrates that subsection (4) is not the starting point for a consideration of the applicability of the prescribed provisions in a Territory such as Norfolk Island. Rather, subsection 9(4) operates structurally to separate the limitations on the applicability of the prescribed provisions throughout the remainder of the Commonwealth from the unqualified operation of the SDA, including the prescribed provisions, 'in relation to acts done within a Territory'.³⁰ There is therefore no additional requirement for an act done in a Territory (as defined) to also fall within the scope of ss 9(5) to 9(20) in order for the SDA to apply.³¹

The Full Court applied the same reasoning in order to find that s 106 of the SDA, which provides for vicarious liability, applied in the Territory of Norfolk Island because s 106 is included in the provisions with which s 9(3) is concerned.³²

(b) Availability of the SDA to male complainants

Section 9(10) provides that the various prescribed provisions in Part II of the SDA have effect in relation to discrimination against women, to the extent that the provisions give effect to the *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women* ('CEDAW').³³ The SDA relies, in part, on CEDAW for its constitutional basis pursuant to the external affairs power of the *Constitution*.³⁴ Section 9(10) refers only to discrimination against women. Accordingly this section will not support a complaint lodged by a man under the SDA.

However, the remaining ss, 9(5)-9(9) and 9(11)-9(20), provide that the various prescribed provisions in Part II of the SDA have effect in a number of specified situations, which reflect heads of Commonwealth legislative power. A male wishing to bring a complaint under the SDA must establish that the complaint falls within one of these sections.

For example, s 9(11) provides that the prescribed provisions of Part II have effect in relation to discrimination by a foreign corporation, a trading or financial corporation formed within the limits of the Commonwealth or a person in the course of the person's duties as an officer or employee of such a corporation.³⁵

In *Dudzinski v Griffith University*, ³⁶ a male complainant successfully established that Griffith University was a trading corporation for the purposes of s 9(11) of the SDA

³⁰ (2005) 144 FCR 402, 406 [19] (Black CJ and Tamberlin J, Keifel J agreeing).

³² (2005) 144 FCR 402, 407 [22] (Black CJ and Tamberlin J, Kiefel J agreeing).

²⁹ (2005) 144 FCR 402.

³¹ (2005) 144 FCR 402, 406 [19].

³³ Opened for signature 18 December 1979, 1249 UNTS 13 (entered into force 3 September 1981).

³⁴ Section 51(xxix) of the *Constitution*.

³⁵ This provision reflects s 51(xx) of the *Constitution*, which confers upon the Commonwealth Parliament power to make laws with respect to 'foreign corporations, and trading or financial corporations formed within the limits of the Commonwealth'.

³⁶ Unreported, HREOC, Hon WJ Carter QC, 23 February 2000 (extract at (2000) EOC 93-079).

thereby bringing his complaint within the application of the Act. In *Eleven Fellow Members of the McLeod Country Golf Club v McLeod Country Golf Club*,³⁷ the complaint brought by male complainants was dismissed by Commissioner Carter who found that the McLeod Country Golf Club was not a trading corporation and the provisions of Part II of the SDA had no application to the Club.

(c) Marital status discrimination and giving effect to CEDAW under s 9(10)

The application of s 9(10) in relation to a claim of marital status discrimination was considered by the Full Federal Court in *AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages*.³⁸ The applicant brought a claim of marital status discrimination in the provision of services pursuant to ss 6 and 22 of the SDA. The applicant had undergone sex affirmation surgery and applied to have her birth registration altered to record her as female. The *Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1996* (Vic) provides that the Registrar cannot make the alteration if the applicant is married. The applicant was married. The Registrar refused the application.

The Registrar argued that s 22 of the SDA had no operation because s 9(10), the only relevant subsection of s 9 in this case, only gives s 22 effect in relation to discrimination on the basis of marital status to the extent that it gives effect to CEDAW. CEDAW is concerned with marital status discrimination only to the extent that the discrimination also involves discrimination against women and in this case there was no discrimination against women, as a man would have been treated in the same way as the applicant.

A majority of the Full Federal Court³⁹ upheld the decision of the judge at first instance⁴⁰ and found for the Registrar. The majority held that CEDAW is not concerned with marital status discrimination per se, but is concerned with discrimination on the basis of marital status that also involves discrimination against women.⁴¹ The words 'in relation to discrimination against women' in s 9(10) therefore only give effect to provisions prohibiting discrimination on the ground of marital status when such discrimination also involves discrimination against women, where men's rights and freedoms are the standards for comparison.⁴² In the State Act in question in this case, the criterion for discrimination was not sex, but marriage, and had the applicant been a married man, the result would have been the same.

The Full Court specifically noted that s 9(10) is different from the other application provisions in s 9 and that the other application provisions give s 22 (and the other prescribed provisions of Part II) effect on a gender neutral basis.⁴³ However, none of those provisions applied in this case.

³⁹ Kenny and Gyles JJ, Black CJ dissenting.

³⁷ [1995] HREOCA 25 (extract at (1995) EOC 92-739).

³⁸ (2007) 162 FCR 528.

⁴⁰ AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages (2006) 235 ALR 147. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in the proceedings at first instance. Her submissions are available at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions.court/amicus/ab.html>

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/ab.html.

41 AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages (2007) 162 FCR 528, 558 [108] (Kenny J).

⁴² (2007) 162 FCR 528, 558 [109] (Kenny J).

⁴³ (2007) 162 FCR 528, 532 [7] (Black CJ), 559 [112] (Kenny J).

4.2 Direct Discrimination Under the SDA

4.2.1 Causation, intention and motive

Section 5(1) of the SDA provides the definition of direct sex discrimination:

- (1) For the purposes of this Act, a person (in this subsection referred to as the *discriminator*) discriminates against another person (in this subsection referred to as the *aggrieved person*) on the ground of the sex of the aggrieved person if, by reason of:
 - (a) the sex of the aggrieved person;
 - (b) a characteristic that appertains generally to persons of the sex of the aggrieved person; or
 - (c) a characteristic that is generally imputed to persons of the sex of the aggrieved person;

the discriminator treats the aggrieved person less favourably than, in circumstances that are the same or are not materially different, the discriminator treats or would treat a person of the opposite sex.

The definitions of direct discrimination on the ground of marital status (s 6(1) – see 4.2.3 below), pregnancy or potential pregnancy (s 7 – see 4.2.4 below) and family responsibilities (s 7A – see 4.2.5 below) are in similar terms, although the definition of pregnancy or potential pregnancy uses the term 'because of' rather than 'by reason of'.

The words 'by reason of the sex of the aggrieved person' in the direct discrimination provisions of the SDA require a causal connection between the sex of the aggrieved person and any less favourable treatment accorded to them. They do not, however, require an intention or motive to discriminate.

In Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission v Mount Isa Mines Ltd⁴⁴ ('Mt Isa Mines'), Lockhart J considered the meaning of 'by reason of', and discussed various tests to determine if the respondent's conduct was discriminatory.

His Honour stated:

In my opinion the phrase 'by reason of' in s 5(1) of the [SDA] should be interpreted as meaning 'because of', 'due to', 'based on' or words of similar import which bring something about or cause it to occur. The phrase implies a relationship of cause and effect between the sex (or characteristic of the kind mentioned in s 5(1)(b) or (c)) of the aggrieved person and the less favourable treatment by the discriminator of that person.⁴⁵

Lockhart J continued:

In my view the Act requires that when an inquiry is being held into alleged discrimination prohibited by s 14(2) on the ground of the sex of an employee, all the relevant circumstances surrounding the alleged discriminatory conduct should be examined. The intention of the defendant is not necessarily irrelevant. The purpose and motive of the defendant may also be relevant.

• • • •

⁴⁴ (1993) 46 FCR 301.

⁴⁵ (1993) 46 FCR 301, 321-322.

[I]n some cases intention may be critical; but in other cases it may be of little, if any, significance. The objects of the [SDA] would be frustrated, however, if sections were to be interpreted as requiring in every case intention, motive or purpose of the alleged discriminator: see *Waters*^[46] per Mason CJ and Gaudron J (at 359).

The search for the proper test to determine if a defendant's conduct is discriminatory is not advanced by the formulation of tests of objective or causative on the one hand and subjective on the other as if they were irreconcilable or postulated diametrically opposed concepts. The inquiry necessarily assumes causation because the question is whether the alleged discrimination occurs because of the conduct of the alleged discriminator; and the inquiry is objective because its aim is to determine on an examination of all the relevant facts of the case whether discrimination occurred. This task may involve the consideration of subjective material such as the intention or even motive, purpose or reason of the alleged discriminator; but its significance will vary from case to case ...

. . .

I am not attracted by the proposition (which appears to have been favoured by the majority of the House in *Eastleigh*)^[47] that the correct test involves simply asking the question what would the position have been *but for* the sex ... of the complainant ... Provided the 'but for' test is understood as not excluding subjective considerations (for example, the motive and intent of the alleged discriminator) it may be useful in many cases; but I prefer to regard it as a useful checking exercise to be engaged in after inquiring whether in all the relevant circumstances there has been discriminatory conduct.⁴⁸

The issue of causation under the DDA was considered in detail by the High Court in *Purvis v New South Wales (Department of Education & Training).*⁴⁹ The Court held there that the appropriate approach is to consider, in light of all the circumstances surrounding the alleged discrimination, what was the 'real reason' or 'true basis' for the treatment.⁵⁰

It is, however, important to note that s 8 of the SDA provides that if an act is done by reason of two or more particular matters that include the relevant ground of discrimination, then it is taken to be done by reason of that ground, regardless of whether that ground is the principal or dominant reason for the doing of the act.

More recently, in *Sterling Commerce (Australia) Pty Ltd v Iliff*,⁵¹ Gordon J noted that 'the test of discrimination is not whether the discriminatory characteristic is the "real reason" or the "only reason" for the conduct but whether it is "a reason" for the conduct'.⁵² Whilst her Honour took the view that the Federal Magistrate at first instance⁵³ had 'impermissibly emphasised the motive or driving reason behind the [employer's] conduct, instead of focusing on whether the conduct occurred because of [the employee's] sex, pregnancy or family responsibilities',⁵⁴ her Honour did not

⁴⁶ Waters v Public Transport Corporation (1991) 173 CLR 349.

⁴⁷ James v Eastleigh Borough Council [1990] 2 AC 751.

⁴⁸ (1993) 46 FCR 301, 324-326. Applied in *Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission* (1997) 77 FCR 371, 390-392; *Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd* [2002] FCA 939, [159]-[161]. ⁴⁹ (2003) 217 CLR 92.

⁵⁰ (2003) 217 CLR 92, 163 [236] (Gummow, Hayne and Heydon JJ), 101-103 [13]-[14] (Gleeson CJ), 143-144 [166] (McHugh and Kirby JJ).

⁵¹ [2008] FCA 702.

⁵² [2008] FCA 702, [48].

Iliff v Sterling Commerce (Australia) Pty Ltd [2007] FMCA 1960.
 Sterling Commerce (Australia) Pty Ltd v Iliff [2008] FCA 702, [49].

consider that this affected the ultimate outcome of the case. Her Honour did not, however, discuss the decision in *Purvis* upon which the Court at first instance based its analysis.55

Direct sex discrimination 4.2.2

Allegations of direct sex discrimination have been raised largely in the context of cases involving pregnancy discrimination (see 4.2.4 below), sexual harassment (see 4.6.5 below) and sex-based harassment (see 4.6.6 below).

In Ho v Regulator Australia Pty Ltd,56 the FMC considered an allegation of direct sex discrimination contrary to s 5(1)(a). In that case the applicant alleged, amongst other things, that she had been discriminated against on the basis of her sex because she had been asked to change the towels in the men's washroom. Driver FM found that the request had been made because 'it was a job that needed doing and it was a job that always been done by "one of the girls". 57 Accordingly, his Honour found that the request had been made on the basis of Mrs Ho being a woman, in breach of s 5(1)(a) of the SDA.⁵⁸ Driver FM stated that:

> The request would not have been made if Mrs Ho had been a man. Appropriate comparators in the circumstances are the male employees in the workplace. They were not and would not have been asked to undertake this menial task. It follows that in making the request to Mrs Ho that she change the towels in the men's washroom, Mrs Kenny treated Mrs Ho less favourably than a man would have been treated in the same circumstances.⁵⁹

In Evans v National Crime Authority, 60 the applicant, a single parent, was employed on contract as an intelligence analyst by the National Crime Authority ('NCA'). The applicant left her employment before the end of her contract after being informed that her contract would not be renewed. Prior to this, the applicant had a series of discussions with, principally, the manager of investigations responsible for her team ('the manager'), in which concerns were expressed about her attendance record and taking of personal leave (comprising carer's leave and sick leave – all within her leave entitlements).

In addition to a finding that the applicant had been constructively dismissed on the basis of her family responsibilities contrary to s 14(3A) (see 4.2.5 below), Raphael FM also made a finding of direct sex discrimination (the responsibility to care for children being a 'characteristic that appertains generally to women'). 61 On appeal in Commonwealth v Evans,62 Branson J overturned the finding of direct sex discrimination. 63 Her Honour found there was no evidence before the Court that showed how a male employee who took the same or comparable amounts of leave as the applicant would have been treated. Branson J stated 'it is not illegitimate for an

⁵⁷ [2004] FMCA 62, [151].

⁵⁵ Iliff v Sterling Commerce (Australia) Pty Ltd [2007] FMCA 1960, [125] and [146].

⁵⁶ [2004] FMCA 62.

⁵⁸ [2004] FMCA 62, [157].

⁵⁹ [2004] FMCA 62, [151].

⁶⁰ [2003] FMCA 375.

⁶¹ [2003] FMCA 375, [101]-[105].

⁶² [2004] FCA 654.

⁶³ But upheld Raphael FM's finding of discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities.

employer, all other things being equal and provided indirect discrimination is avoided, to favour for re-employment an employee who takes limited leave over an employee who regularly takes a lot of leave, albeit that it is leave to which he or she is entitled'. 64 The situation was distinguished from Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd 65 in which there was a family leave policy which required a certain standard of treatment (see 4.2.4(b)).

4.2.3 **Direct marital status discrimination**

Section 6(1) of the SDA defines direct discrimination on the ground of marital status:

- For the purposes of this Act, a person (in this subsection referred to as the *discriminator*) discriminates against another person (in this subsection referred to as the aggrieved person) on the ground of the marital status of the aggrieved person if, by reason of:
 - the marital status of the aggrieved person; or (a)
 - a characteristic that appertains generally to persons of the (b) marital status of the aggrieved person; or
 - a characteristic that is generally imputed to persons of the (c) marital status of the aggrieved person;

the discriminator treats the aggrieved person less favourably than, in circumstances that are the same or are not materially different, the discriminator treats or would treat a person of a different marital status.

Section 6 of the SDA was considered by HREOC, the Federal Court and the Full Federal Court in what is known as the *Dopking* litigation. 66 In that matter, complaints were made to HREOC by single members of the Defence Force (one of whom was Mr Dopking). The complainants had been posted by the RAAF to Townsville. They sought to receive certain allowances to cover costs associated with their posting. These allowances were only available to a 'member with a family' which was defined to mean a member normally residing with: (a) the spouse of the member; (b) a child; (c) where the member is widowed, unmarried or permanently separated, or where the member's spouse is invalided – a person acting as a guardian or housekeeper to a child; (d) any other person approved by an approving authority. The complainants' applications for the allowances were rejected on the ground that they were members without family.

HREOC found that this amounted to direct discrimination on the ground of marital status.67 The respondent argued that the allowance was denied not because of the complainants' marital status, but because they were not part of a household including a person within the definition of 'family'. 68 This argument was rejected by Sir Ronald Wilson, who held:

> In my opinion [the respondent's argument] neglects to mark the significance of paragraphs (b) and (c) of section 6(1). It is not only 'marital status' to which regard

⁶⁵ [2002] FCA 939.

⁶⁶ Sullivan v Department of Defence (1991) EOC 92-366; Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1991) 32 FCR 468; Sullivan v Department of Defence (1992) EOC 92-421; Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1993) 46 FCR 191; Dopking v Department of Defence (Unreported, HREOC, Sir Ronald Wilson, 24 October 1994) (extract at (1995) EOC 92-669); Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1995) 63 FCR 74.

⁶⁴ [2004] FCA 654, [71].

Sullivan v Department of Defence (1992) EOC 92-421.

⁶⁸ (1992) EOC 92-421, 79,005.

must not be had, but also 'a characteristic that appertains generally to or is generally imputed to persons of the marital status' of the complainant. Not being part of a 'household' is a characteristic that pertains generally to persons of single status, thereby as a matter of generality rendering single persons ineligible to receive the allowance. In the present case, that characteristic of not being part of a household attached to Mr Dopking, thereby rendering him ineligible to receive the allowance.69

On review by the Full Court of the Federal Court, 70 it was held by Lockhart and Wilcox JJ (Black CJ dissenting) that the approach taken by HREOC was incorrect. Lockhart J stated:

> In this case s 6(1) requires the comparison to be made between Mr Dopking as a person with the characteristic mentioned in para (b) or (c) of subs (1) and a person of a different marital status. There is no extension of that other person's marital status for the purposes of the section. In other words, the comparison is not made with a person having a characteristic that appertains generally to or is generally imputed to persons of another marital status; it is made with a person of a different marital status – for example a married person.

The reason why a member of the Defence Force is... treated more favourably than others is because the member is accompanied by a person who normally resides with him or her and falls within the extended definition of 'family'. It is not the marital status of the person ... that determines the more favourable treatment, but the fact that, whatever that person's marital status is, he or she has one or more 'family' members normally residing with him or her who in fact accompanies the member to the new posting.⁷¹

Wilcox J also favoured a 'narrow' view of s 6(1), requiring a comparison between:

the treatment of an aggrieved person having a particular marital status (or characteristic which appertains generally, or is perceived to appertain generally, to persons of a particular marital status) and the treatment accorded to persons having a different marital status, without reference to the characteristics that generally appertain, or are imputed, to that marital status.⁷²

In MW v Royal Women's Hospital,73 HREOC considered a refusal to provide in vitro fertilization treatment to unmarried women. The fertilization procedure was regulated by the Infertility (Medical Procedures) Act 1984 (Vic) which provided that the procedure may only be carried out if the woman is married. The complainants were not married but each was in a long term stable de facto relationship. They satisfied all the requirements for the program but were not permitted to continue on the program because they were not married.

The Commissioner found that as the hospitals that had refused treatment were in the business of providing health care, they were subject to s 22 of the SDA (which proscribes discrimination in the provision of goods, services and facilities). The

⁶⁹ (1992) EOC 92-421, 79,005.

⁷⁰ Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1993) 46 FCR 191.

⁷¹ (1993) 46 FCR 191, 204-205 (Lockhart J). The matter was remitted to HREOC for consideration of whether or not there was indirect discrimination under the SDA. 72 (1993) 46 FCR 191, 211. The existence of s 6(2) relating to indirect discrimination was regarded as significant

by his Honour (211-12). Although the provisions considered by his Honour were subsequently amended in 1995 (see section 4.3 below), his Honour's reasoning on this issue would still appear to be relevant.

³ Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Kohl, 5 March 1997 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-886).

refusal to provide the IVF services to the complainants because they were not married constituted unlawful discrimination on the ground of their marital status.⁷⁴ The Commissioner stated that compliance with a State law is not a defence under the SDA⁷⁵ and the complainants were awarded damages.⁷⁶

The same issue arose in *McBain v Victoria*.⁷⁷ The Federal Court found that s 8 of the *Infertility Treatment Act 1995* (Vic) required a provider of infertility treatment to discriminate on the ground of marital status. That section and a number of other provisions were declared by Sundberg J to be inconsistent with the SDA and, under s 109 of the *Constitution*, inoperative to the extent of the inconsistency.⁷⁸

A complaint of marital status discrimination in the provision of services under the *Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1996* (Vic) was considered by the Full Federal Court in *AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages*. ⁷⁹ Section 30C(3) of the State legislation relevantly provides that the Registrar cannot make an alteration to a person's birth registration after that person has undergone sex affirmation surgery if the person is married.

Kenny J found that, were it not for the limited application provisions in the SDA, s 30C(3) of the State legislation would have been inconsistent with s 22 of the SDA because it required the Registrar to treat the applicant less favourably than an unmarried person and would therefore be invalid to the extent of that inconsistency in accordance with s 109 of the *Constitution*. However, none of the relevant provisions of s 9 operated to give the SDA effect in the circumstances of this case.

Only s 9(10) (relating to CEDAW) was relevant to the activities of the Registrar. As discussed in more detail at 4.1.2(c) above, that provision could only give operation to s 22 in relation to discrimination on the ground of marital status when such discrimination also involved discrimination against women, where men's rights and freedoms are the standards for comparison.⁸¹ Here, the action of the Registrar in refusing to alter the applicant's birth certificate had nothing to do with the applicant being a woman and had the applicant been a man, the result would have been the same. As the criterion for discrimination was not sex, but marriage, the appeal failed.⁸²

⁷⁴ Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Kohl, 5 March 1997 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-886, 77,191).

⁷⁵ Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Kohl, 5 March 1997 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-886, 77,192).

⁷⁶ Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Kohl, 5 March 1997 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-886, 77,194). Note that the Commissioner declined to make a declaration of invalidity under s 109 of the *Constitution* on the basis that HREOC was not a court and did not have the power to make a declaration of invalidity (77,193).

⁷⁷ (2000) 90 ECP 116. Note that appears 100 make a declaration of invalidity (77,193).

^{(2000) 99} FCR 116. Note that proceedings challenging this decision were brought in the High Court (with HREOC intervening) but they were dismissed without consideration of the merits: *Re McBain; Ex parte Australian Catholic Bishops Conference* (2002) 209 CLR 372. See HREOC's submissions on the substantive issues at http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/guidelines/hcaivf1.html.

78 Note that Kenny J in *AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages* (2007) 162 FCR 528, 550 [77] commented

⁷⁸ Note that Kenny J in *AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages* (2007) 162 FCR 528, 550 [77] commented that Sundberg J in *McBain v Victoria* did not have any occasion in that case to consider the effect of ss 9(4) and (10) of the SDA and that while the issue was subsequently mentioned by the unsuccessful applicants for prerogative writs in argument before the High Court (*Re McBain; Ex parte Australian Catholic Bishops Conference* (2002) 209 CLR 372, 380) it was not otherwise discussed (see further 4.1.2(c) above).

⁷⁹ (2007) 162 FCR 528.

^{80 (2007) 162} FCR 528, 549 [75] (Kenny J).

^{81 (2007) 162} FCR 528, 558 [108] (Kenny J).

^{82 (2007) 162} FCR 528, 558-559 [111] (Kenny J, Gyles J agreeing).

Other cases have considered claims of unlawful discrimination on the ground of marital status but the claims were dismissed without significant discussion of the relevant provisions of the SDA. 83

4.2.4 **Direct pregnancy discrimination**

Section 7(1) of the SDA defines direct discrimination on the ground of pregnancy or potential pregnancy:

- For the purposes of this Act, a person (the *discriminator*) discriminates (1) against a woman (the aggrieved woman) on the ground of the aggrieved woman's pregnancy or potential pregnancy if, because of:
 - (a) the aggrieved woman's pregnancy or potential pregnancy; or
 - a characteristic that appertains generally to women who are (b) pregnant or potentially pregnant; or
 - a characteristic that is generally imputed to women who are (c) pregnant or potentially pregnant;

the discriminator treats the aggrieved woman less favourably than, in circumstances that are the same or are not materially different, the discriminator treats or would treat someone who is not pregnant or potentially pregnant.

Much of the case law in relation to s 7(1) of the SDA arises from complaints that allege discrimination after a woman has returned to work after taking a period of maternity leave. This is because the taking of a period of maternity leave is a characteristic that appertains generally to women who are pregnant (s 7(1)(b)).84 These cases are discussed further below (4.2.4(b)).

(a) Relationship between pregnancy and sex discrimination

Complaints of discrimination on the basis of pregnancy or potential pregnancy, or on the basis of a characteristic that appertains generally to women who are pregnant or potentially pregnant, raise potentially overlapping claims of sex and pregnancy discrimination. This is because pregnancy and potential pregnancy, and the characteristics that appertain generally to those attributes, have also been said to be characteristics that appertain generally to women. 85 Complaints of discrimination on these grounds may therefore fall within both s 5(1)(b) and s 7(1)(b) of the SDA.

It has been held, however, that s 7 of the SDA operates exclusively of s 5. In *Human* Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission v Mount Isa Mines Ltd86 ('Mt Isa Mines'), Lockhart J stated:

> What is the relationship between ss 5, 6 and 7 of the SD Act? Section 5 relates to sex discrimination, s 6 to discrimination on the ground of marital status and s 7 to discrimination on the ground of pregnancy. Section 7 assumes that the aggrieved person is pregnant or has a characteristic that appertains generally to or is generally imputed to persons who are pregnant. If the facts of a particular case concern an

86 (1993) 46 FCR 301.

⁸³ Dranichnikov v Department of Immigration & Multicultural Affairs [2002] FMCA 23; Song v Ainsworth Game Technology Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 31.

84 Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd [2002] FCA 939, [165].

⁸⁵ Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission v Mount Isa Mines Ltd (1993) 46 FCR 301; Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd [2002] FCA 939.

aggrieved person who is pregnant or who has a characteristic that appertains generally to or is generally imputed to pregnant women, in my opinion s 7 operates exclusively of s 5.87

Mt Isa Mines has subsequently been applied in cases alleging direct discrimination in relation to return to work after a period of maternity leave. In *Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd*⁸⁸ ('*Thomson*'), for example, Allsop J held that the taking of maternity leave is a characteristic that appertains generally to women, and accordingly, less favourable treatment on the ground that a woman has taken maternity leave can amount to discrimination on the basis of sex, as well as pregnancy. ⁸⁹ However, his Honour considered that he should follow the decision of Lockhart J in *Mt Isa Mines* in relation to the exclusive operation of s 7 and s 5. ⁹⁰ He therefore concluded that, although he was satisfied the facts of the case would have supported a conclusion of unlawful sex discrimination under ss 5(1)(b) and (c) and 14(2), relief would be limited to that based on the claim of pregnancy discrimination under ss 7(1) and 14(2). ⁹¹

(b) Maternity leave – direct discrimination on basis of characteristic that appertains generally to pregnancy

There have been a number of cases in this area. These are discussed with particular emphasis on the identification of the 'comparator': that is, the person or persons to whom an applicant is to be compared in determining whether or not there has been 'less favourable treatment'.

In *Thomson*, the applicant had been employed for nine years before taking 12 months maternity leave to which she was entitled under the respondent's family leave policy. A few days before she was due to return to work, the applicant was advised that she would not be returning to her pre-maternity leave position and that she would be performing new duties. The applicant alleged that the changes to her job amounted to a demotion and that the respondent's actions amounted to a constructive dismissal.

Allsop J found that the job offered to the applicant on her return from maternity leave was 'of significantly reduced importance and status, of a character amounting to a demotion (although not in official status or salary)'. His Honour considered that the appropriate comparator, for the purposes of s 7(1) of the SDA, was a similarly graded account manager with the applicant's experience who, with the employer's consent, took 12 months leave and who had a right to return to the same or similar position. His Honour also found that the posited comparator would not have been treated contrary to any policy that had been laid down for his or her treatment. His Honour

13

⁸⁷ (1993) 46 FCR 301, 327-328. Further comments made by his Honour concerning discrimination on the basis of potential pregnancy (which was not a specific ground of discrimination under the SDA at the time) are no longer relevant given that s 7 was amended subsequent to the *Mt Isa Mines* decision so as to make discrimination because of potential pregnancy unlawful.

⁸⁸ [2002] FCA 939.

⁸⁹ [2002] FCA 939, [168].

⁹⁰ [2002] FCA 939, [170]. Allsop J noted that the SDA had been amended since *Mount Isa Mines* to insert the ground of 'potential pregnancy' into s 7, although this does not appear to have been relevant to, or an influence on, his Honour's analysis on this point.

⁹¹ See also *Dare v Hurley* [2005] FMCA 844, [104]; *Sheaves v AAPT Ltd* [2006] FMCA 1380.

⁹² [2002] FCA 939, [53].

^{93 [2002]} FCA 939, [138].

decided that the applicant had been treated less favourably than another employee in the same or similar circumstances who was not pregnant.94

Allsop J also found that the actions of the employer constituted a serious breach of the implied term of the contract of employment that an employer will not, without reasonable cause, conduct itself in a manner likely to damage or destroy the relationship of confidence and trust between the parties.95 His Honour found that the applicant was entitled to treat herself as constructively dismissed at common law⁹⁶ and that discrimination had occurred contrary to ss 14(2)(a), (b), (c) and (d) of the SDA.

Thomson was cited with approval in Rispoli v Merck Sharpe & Dohme (Australia) Ptv Ltd. 97 The applicant in that matter was employed in the position of Manager, Technology Support in the respondent's finance and administrative group. She claimed that upon her return from maternity leave her position no longer existed, due to a restructure, and she was persuaded to take a role in 'special projects' which was graded two levels lower. She was, however, remunerated according to her original position and invited to participate in an important new project. The applicant complained that, by effectively demoting her, the employer had breached ss 5(1), 7(1) and 14(1) of the SDA and an implied term of her contract of employment which guaranteed that she would be provided with a comparable position upon returning from maternity leave. She further complained that she was constructively dismissed.

Driver FM accepted, citing *Thomson*, that by placing the applicant in a position which was inferior in status, she had been treated 'less favourably than a comparable employee would have been who was not pregnant and who was returning after nine months leave and with the rights of the kind reflected in the maternity leave policy'.98 As such, the employer had engaged in discrimination as defined in s 7(1)(b) of the SDA and was in breach of s 14(2)(a) of the SDA.

In relation to the alleged breach of contract, Driver FM held that the employer's parental leave policy formed part of the contract for employment which gave the applicant the right to return to a comparable position. 99 However, Driver FM held that by remaining in her position as Business Improvement Facilitator and accepting the offer to work on the new project, the applicant 'forgave' the employer's breach of contract.100 Her conduct was therefore inconsistent with her acceptance of a repudiation of the contract by the employer, even if that conduct had amounted to a fundamental breach.¹⁰¹ Driver FM declined to make a finding of constructive dismissal. 102

⁹⁴ [2002] FCA 939, [138].

⁹⁵ Applying Burazin v Blacktown City Guardian (1996) 142 ALR 144, 151.

⁹⁶ [2002] FCA 939, [148].

⁹⁷ [2003] FMCA 160.

^{98 [2003]} FMCA 160, [82].

⁹⁹ [2003] FMCA 160, [81]. Driver FM found that the statutory obligations contained in section 66 of the *Industrial* Relations Act 1996 (NSW) in relation to parental leave were part of the respondent's maternity leave policy; were well known to employees; and gave business efficacy to the employment contract and should properly be regarded as forming an implied term of it ([81]). 100 [2003] FMCA 160, [87].

¹⁰¹ [2003] FMCA 160, [86].

¹⁰² [2003] FMCA 160, [88].

In Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation, 103 the applicant occupied a professional position with the respondent as a Business Development Manager. She informed her employer that she wanted to take 12 months maternity leave. Her three year contract was due to expire during that leave. She sought a two year extension to her contract but it was extended for a period of only one year. The applicant claimed the one year extension was discriminatory on the ground of her pregnancy because at that time other professional officers on fixed term contracts were offered contract extensions of two years or more.

Driver FM found that there had been discrimination as defined by s 7(1) and it was unlawful by s 14(2)(a). 104 His Honour held that the proper comparison to be made was between the applicant and other fixed term contract employees of the respondent who were not pregnant, who intended to take 12 months leave and who had sought to have their contracts extended. 105 Driver FM found that most (if not all) other fixed term contract employees of the respondent who were not pregnant and who had sought to have their contracts extended were granted a contract extension of an equal or greater period than the original term of their employment. His Honour noted that, whilst there was no uniform approach to the renewal of fixed term contracts, the respondent's practice gave rise to a reasonable expectation that, provided that performance was satisfactory, the contract would be renewed for a period no shorter than the initial contract period. Driver FM held that the applicant was treated less favourably than comparable employees. 106

His Honour was further satisfied that the applicant's pregnancy was a factor in the decision to grant her a one year extension. The respondent asserted that the dominant factor in considering the length of the extension was the doubt about a business case for the applicant's position. His Honour found that a factor in that uncertainty was doubt in the respondent's mind whether, and if so on what basis, the applicant would be returning from maternity leave. His Honour stated that by offering the one-year extension the employer was 'minimising the risk that Ms Mayer might not return or might want to return on an inconvenient basis after completing her maternity leave'. 107

In *Ilian v ABC*, 108 the applicant took a period of two years and four months leave during which time she gave birth to two children. The leave comprised predominantly maternity leave, but also included long service leave, recreation leave and sick leave. 109 Upon her return to work, the applicant's employer failed to allow her to return to the position she had held before the commencement of her leave. The applicant alleged that her employer's conduct was because of her pregnancies and the taking of maternity leave, and brought a claim of both sex and/or pregnancy discrimination pursuant to ss 5 and 7 of the SDA.

McInnes FM upheld the applicant's claim under s 7(1)(b) of the SDA, accepting that the applicant was treated less favourably than a comparator on the ground of her pregnancy. In relation to the issue of a comparator, McInnes FM stated:

¹⁰³ [2003] FMCA 209.

¹⁰⁴ [2003] FMCA 209, [60].

¹⁰⁵ [2003] FMCA 209, [58].

^{106 [2003]} FMCA 209, [61]. 107 [2003] FMCA 209, [62].

¹⁰⁸ (2006) 236 ALR 168.

¹⁰⁹ McInnes FM characterised the leave taken by the applicant as maternity leave. He stated that '[i]t would be unduly technical to characterise the total absence as anything other than relating to the two pregnancies and births': (2006) 236 ALR 168, 206 [180].

It is sufficient for the Court to find as it has found that the Respondent's usual practice for employees who have taken leave of an extended nature is that they return to their previous duties. 110

McInnes FM held that the reason for the less favourable treatment was the applicant's pregnancies and the taking of maternity leave and that the respondent had therefore contravened s 7 of the SDA.111

The application of Allsop J's approach in *Thomson* to the issue of the comparator led to the dismissal of a complaint of discrimination in *Iliff v Sterling Commerce* (Australia) Pty Ltd. 112 In that case, the applicant was employed by the respondent for two years prior to becoming pregnant in April 2004. Following discussions with her manager, it was agreed that the applicant would return to work on a part time basis before resuming her full time duties, subject to the changing needs of the business and potential restructuring. Upon attempting to return to work, the applicant was informed that her position no longer existed and that she was to be made redundant. She was advised that changes had occurred within the structure of the respondent's business and that the employee who had replaced her in her absence was better qualified for the new tasks these changes entailed.

Burchardt FM concluded that if the applicant had not gone on maternity leave it was more probable than otherwise that she would have continued in her employment, notwithstanding the various changes that took place in relation to the conduct of the business.¹¹³ However, while it was clear that the applicant would not have been dismissed if she had not taken maternity leave, this did not necessarily mean that the reason for her dismissal was the fact that she was on maternity leave.

Relying on Thomson and Purvis v New South Wales (Department of Education & Training), 114 Burchardt FM decided that the comparator against whom the applicant's treatment should be compared was a person who went on unpaid leave in December 2004 with an enforceable understanding that they were entitled to return to work following the end of that leave in 2005. 115 Despite taking an unfavourable view of the manner in which the respondent company dealt with the applicant, his Honour held that the real reason why the applicant was not permitted to return to work was because management had formed the view that the person who was employed to replace the applicant during her maternity leave was a better employee for the job. His Honour expressed the view that the same treatment would have been accorded to an employee on study leave or a male employee on unpaid leave even if such leave had involved a right to return to work. 116 Accordingly, this element of the sex discrimination claim failed.

^{110 (2006) 236} ALR 168, 207 [185].

Applying *Thomson*, having found a contravention of s 7 of the SDA, McInnes FM did not consider it necessary to consider the claim pursuant to s 5.

^{112 [2007]} FMCA 1960. 113 [2007] FMCA 1960, [106].

¹¹⁴ (2003) 217 CLR 92.

¹¹⁵ [2007] FMCA 1960, [119]-[122].

^{116 [2007]} FMCA 1960, [133]. In his analysis, his Honour appears to rely on the taking of maternity leave as a characteristic appertaining to women (see, for example, references to the sex of the applicant at [133] and [146])

Burchardt FM concluded, however, that the respondent had unlawfully discriminated against the applicant in requiring her to sign a release before it would pay her a redundancy payment. This was based on a finding that the respondent wanted a release from the applicant in order to try and prevent her from seeking to enforce her rights pursuant to the return to work provisions contained in the Workplace Relations Act 1996 (Cth). His Honour concluded that the reason for the respondent's action was therefore the taking of maternity leave. 117

Both the appeal and cross-appeal against Burchardt FM's decision were dismissed. 118 In responding to an argument that Burchardt FM did not correctly identify the comparator, Gordon J gave further consideration to Allsop J's findings in *Thomson* and noted that

The issue is whether Allsop J's finding that the employer would not have treated the comparator contrary to any other company policy was premised on the factual finding in that case that the Orica supervisor was prejudiced against women taking maternity leave. In my view, that factual finding did inform Allsop J's assessment that Orica treated the employee in question contrary to its own company policy (which was the relevant issue in that case) because of the maternity leave. 119

In relation to the matter before her Honour, Gordon J found that there was nothing to suggest that the management at Sterling Commerce had a negative attitude towards maternity leave. In this context, her Honour was 'less likely to find that a reason Sterling Commerce failed to reinstate Ms Iliff was that she took maternity leave'. 120 In addition, her Honour accepted that the evidence before Burchardt FM did not suggest that Sterling Commerce would have treated the comparator with an equivalent right to return to work any differently than it did Ms Iliff and her Honour therefore dismissed that ground of the cross-appeal. 121

In Ho v Regulator Australia Pty Ltd, 122 the applicant alleged, amongst other things, that she had been discriminated against on the basis of her pregnancy. Driver FM found that the applicant's supervisor had made it clear to the applicant that her pregnancy was unwelcome and that she would be required to prove her entitlement to maternity leave. She was required to attend a meeting with an independent witness to discuss her request for leave as well as a change in her work performance which had followed the announcement of her pregnancy.

Driver FM held as follows:

I find that in subjecting Mrs Ho to the meeting on 25 February 2002 the respondents discriminated against Mrs Ho on account of her pregnancy. The appropriate comparators are employees of the first respondent who were not pregnant but who had a condition requiring leave on the production of a medical

rather than to pregnancy under s 7(1)(b) although this does not appear, however, to impact on the outcome of the

17

case. ¹¹⁷ [2007] FMCA 1960, [138]-[149]. His Honour further held that the respondent had breached the return to work provisions contained in the Workplace Relations Act 1996 (Cth) and imposed the maximum penalty available under the legislation – \$33,000.

Sterling Commerce (Australia) Pty Ltd v Iliff [2008] FCA 702.

¹¹⁹ [2008] FCA 702, [44].

¹²⁰ [2008] FCA 702, [45].

¹²¹ [2008] FCA 702, [45].

¹²² [2004] FMCA 62.

certificate. It is hard to imagine an employee requiring leave on production of a medical certificate being summoned to a meeting before an independent witness to discuss their need for leave and an asserted decline in work performance and attitude since the medical condition became known. I find that such an employee would not have been subjected to an analysis of their work performance or been summoned to a meeting with an independent witness to justify a request for leave. By subjecting Mrs Ho to the meeting the respondents breached s.7(1)(a) of the SDA. ¹²³

In *Howe v Qantas Airways Ltd*, ¹²⁴ the applicant was employed by the respondent as a Customer Service Manager when she became pregnant. The applicant was earning \$95,000 per annum, with a base salary of \$64,000 in that position. The Enterprise Agreement regulating the applicant's employment required her to cease flying duties 16 weeks after the date of conception. The applicant registered her interest in available ground duties and was offered a position in the engineering department, performing photocopying and filing duties, earning about \$30,000 per annum. The applicant commenced unpaid maternity leave rather than take this position. The applicant alleged that the respondent had unlawfully discriminated against her on the ground of her pregnancy by refusing her request to access her accumulated sick leave entitlements and/or by failing to pay the applicant her base salary when she was required to cease flying by reason of her pregnancy.

Driver FM found that the proper comparison to be made was between the applicant and an employee of the respondent who was not pregnant but required to cease flying duties by reason of a medical condition. This hypothetical comparator was covered by the Enterprise Agreement that regulated the applicant's employment. The Enterprise Agreement provided that a flight attendant who, through personal illness, was unfit for flying but was fit for non-flying duty may take sick leave or if a temporary ground staff position was available and accepted by the flight attendant, he or she must be paid the rate of pay prescribed in the relevant award.

Therefore, as the comparator would have the option of performing ground duties or taking sick leave, Driver FM found that the refusal of sick leave to the applicant amounted to less favourable treatment and constituted discrimination in breach of ss 7(1) and 14(2)(b) of the SDA. However, the offer of a rate of pay applicable to the engineering department position was not discriminatory by reference to this same hypothetical comparator.

In *Dare v Hurley*, 125 the applicant alleged that she was dismissed from her employment either because she was pregnant or because of her request for maternity leave. The respondent contended that the applicant's employment was terminated because she had acted inappropriately by deleting documentation from the company's computer system, by installing password protection on documents contrary to company policy and by reporting in sick by means of an SMS message.

¹²³ [2004] FMCA 62, [155].

^{124 (2004) 188} FLR 1. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this matter. The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_submissions_fifth.html. The Commissioner's supplementary submissions are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_supplementary_submissions.html. 125 [2005] FMCA 844.

Driver FM considered that the appropriate hypothetical comparator for the purposes of s 7(1) of the SDA was an employee of the respondent subject to the same terms of employment: that is, one who had expressed a wish to take a period of unpaid leave; whose work performance was not assessed as unsatisfactory prior to the leave request; and who password protected two documents without instruction and reported in sick by means of an SMS message. 126 His Honour found that in dismissing the applicant, the respondent treated her less favourably than the hypothetical comparator would have been treated because of her need for maternity leave: a characteristic that appertains to women who are pregnant. His Honour held that the respondent acted unlawfully in dismissing the applicant in breach of ss 7(1) and 14(2)(c) of the SDA. 127

In Fenton v Hair & Beauty Gallery Pty Ltd, 128 the applicant attended her workplace after an absence due to illness related to her pregnancy. Driver FM found that the applicant was discriminated against on the ground of pregnancy when she was sent home by her employer despite being 'fit, ready and able to work'. His Honour stated:

> The fact was that Ms Fenton had presented for work, was not sick and wanted to work. Ms Hunt had decided not to take the risk of permitting Ms Fenton to work because she did not want a repetition of the events of 18 December 2003 [on which day the applicant had been ill and had to leave work]. Ms Hunt's motives may have been benign (she was genuinely concerned for Ms Fenton's welfare) but Ms Fenton was treated less favourably than the hypothetical comparator would have been in the same circumstances. Ms Fenton was denied a week's salary that she was entitled to earn. A valued employee with Ms Fenton's skills and experience who was temporarily unfit for work but then presented for work fit at a time when her services were sorely needed, would not have been turned away. It was Ms Fenton's pregnancy that caused Ms Hunt to send Ms Fenton home because of her concern for her welfare. However, the decision should have been left for Ms Fenton. In sending Ms Fenton home and thereby depriving her of a week's salary, Ms Hunt discriminated against Ms Fenton by reason of her pregnancy contrary to s.7(1) and s.14(2)(b) of the SDA. Ms Hunt denied Ms Fenton access to paid employment for a week which was a benefit associated with her employment. Alternatively, the denial of paid employment was a detriment for the purposes of s.14(2)(d).129

4.2.5 Discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities

The definition of discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities appears in s 7A of the SDA. Unlike the other grounds in the SDA, the definition is restricted to direct discrimination. In addition, discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities is made unlawful only where an employee is dismissed (s 14(3A)) although constructive dismissal will suffice. 130

Section 7A of the SDA provides:

7A Discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities

For the purposes of this Act, an employer discriminates against an employee on the ground of the employee's family responsibilities if:

¹²⁶ [2005] FMCA 844, [104]. ¹²⁷ [2005] FMCA 844, [116].

¹²⁸ [2006] FMCA 3.

¹²⁹ [2006] FMCA 3, [97].

¹³⁰ Song v Ainsworth Game Technology Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 31; Evans v National Crime Authority [2003] FMCA 375. See also Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation [2003] FMCA 209, [74].

- (a) the employer treats the employee less favourably than the employer treats, or would treat, a person without family responsibilities in circumstances that are the same or not materially different; and
- (b) the less favourable treatment is by reason of:
 - (i) the family responsibilities of the employee; or
 - (ii) a characteristic that appertains generally to persons with family responsibilities; or
 - (iii) a characteristic that is generally imputed to persons with family responsibilities.

Section 14(3A) of the SDA provides:

(3A) It is unlawful for an employer to discriminate against an employee on the ground of the employee's family responsibilities by dismissing the employee.

In *Song v Ainsworth Game Technology Pty Ltd*¹³¹ ('*Song*'), the applicant sought to continue an informal practice she had maintained for nearly one year of leaving the workplace for approximately twenty minutes (from 2.55pm to 3.15pm) each afternoon to transfer her child from kindergarten to another carer.

The respondent sought to impose upon the applicant the condition that she attend work from 9am until 5pm with a half hour for lunch between 12pm and 1pm. When this condition was not accepted the respondent unilaterally changed the applicant's employment from full-time to part-time employment, purportedly to allow the applicant to meet her family responsibilities.

Raphael FM found that the applicant was treated less favourably than a person without family responsibilities who would have expected flexibility in starting and finishing times and in the timing of meal breaks. His Honour further found that the unilateral change to part-time employment constituted constructive dismissal of the applicant and that one of the grounds for that dismissal was the applicant's family responsibilities in breach of s 14(3A) of the SDA. 133

In *Escobar v Rainbow Printing Pty Ltd (No 2)*¹³⁴ (*'Escobar'*), Driver FM suggested that the case before him involved a factual situation effectively the reverse of that in *Song*. Rather than a case where the employer essentially compelled the employee to work part-time, Driver FM found that prior to the applicant's return from maternity leave, she sought to reach an agreement with the respondent that she return to work on a part-time basis. Following that conversation, and prior to the applicant's return to work, the respondent employed another person to fill the applicant's full-time position. On the day that the applicant returned to work, the respondent told her that there was no part-time work available and terminated the applicant's employment.

Driver FM found that on the facts of the case the breach of s 14(3A) was clear:

There is no doubt in my mind that the applicant was dismissed by the respondent when she presented herself for work on 1 August 2000. The employment relationship between the parties had continued to that point and the applicant was clearly sent away from the workplace on the understanding that the employment

^{131 [2002]} FMCA 31.

^{132 [2002]} FMCA 31, [72].

^{133 [2002]} FMCA 31, [83].

¹³⁴ [2002] FMCA 122.

¹³⁵ [2002] FMCA 122, [33].

relationship was then severed. The reason for the dismissal is also clear. The reason was that Mr Meoushy was unwilling to countenance at that time the possibility of the applicant working part time and had filled her full time position, rendering that position also unavailable. Mr Meoushy had taken that action because he had formed a view (I think correctly) that the applicant was unwilling to work full time because of her family responsibilities. I am left in no doubt that the applicant was dismissed from her employment on 1 August 2000 because of her family responsibilities. 136

In Evans v National Crime Authority, 137 the applicant, a single parent, was employed on contract as an intelligence analyst by the National Crime Authority ('NCA'). The applicant left her employment before the end of her contract after being informed that her contract would not be renewed. Prior to this, the applicant had a series of discussions with, principally, the manager of investigations responsible for her team ('the manager'), in which concerns were expressed about her attendance record and taking of personal leave (comprising carer's leave and sick leave – all within her leave entitlements).

Raphael FM found that the manager was unhappy with the concept of carer's leave 138 and that the manager considered non-attendance for reasons of carer's leave to be damaging to that person's employment prospects within the NCA.¹³⁹ His Honour was also satisfied that the manager's grading of the applicant at her performance review was influenced by his views as to her taking of personal leave. 140 This in turn affected the renewal of the contract. 141 Raphael FM concluded that the applicant had been constructively dismissed on the basis of her family responsibilities, contrary to s 14(3A). 142 In finding that there had been 'less favourable treatment' for the purposes of s 7A, his Honour stated that the proper comparator was an employee without family responsibilities who took personal leave within his or her entitlements.¹⁴³

Raphael FM's finding of discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities was upheld on appeal by Branson J in Commonwealth v Evans. 144

A number of cases involving issues relating to family responsibilities and requests for flexible working arrangements have included claims of indirect sex discrimination (s 5(2)). These cases are considered at 4.3 below.

21

¹³⁶ [2002] FMCA 122, [36]. Some queries have been raised regarding aspects of the reasoning in *Song* and Escobar. See Hon John von Doussa QC and Craig Lenehan, 'Barbequed or Burned? Flexibility in Work Arrangements and the Sex Discrimination Act' (2004) 27 University of New South Wales Law Journal 892. [2003] FMCA 375.

^[2003] FMCA 375, [88].

¹³⁹ [2003] FMCA 375, [89].

¹⁴⁰ [2003] FMCA 375, [88].

¹⁴¹ [2003] FMCA 375, [93]. His Honour also made a finding of direct sex discrimination (the responsibility to care for children being a 'characteristic that appertains generally to women'), [101]-[105]. On appeal in Commonwealth v Evans [2004] FCA 654, Branson J overturned the finding of direct sex discrimination. Her Honour found there was no evidence before the Court that showed how a male employee who took the same or comparable amounts of leave as the applicant would have been treated. Branson J stated 'it is not illegitimate for an employer, all other things being equal and provided indirect discrimination is avoided, to favour for re-employment an employee who takes limited leave over an employee who regularly takes a lot of leave, albeit that it is leave to which he or she is entitled' ([71]). The situation was distinguished from Thomson v Orica Australia Pty Ltd [2002] FCA 939 in which there was a family leave policy which required a certain standard of treatment (see 4.2.4 above). ¹⁴² [2003] FMCA 375, [106].

¹⁴³ [2003] FMCA 375, [108].

¹⁴⁴ [2004] FCA 654.

4.3 Indirect Discrimination Under the SDA

Section 5(2) of the SDA provides:

(2) For the purposes of this Act, a person (the *discriminator*) discriminates against another person (the *aggrieved person*) on the ground of the sex of the aggrieved person if the discriminator imposes, or proposes to impose, a condition, requirement or practice that has, or is likely to have, the effect of disadvantaging persons of the same sex as the aggrieved person.

The definitions of indirect discrimination on the grounds of marital status (s 6(2)) and pregnancy or potential pregnancy (s 7(2)) are set out in similar terms.

These provisions all apply subject to s 7B which provides:

7B Indirect discrimination: reasonableness test

- (1) A person does not discriminate against another person by imposing, or proposing to impose, a condition, requirement or practice that has, or is likely to have, the disadvantaging effect mentioned in subsection 5(2), 6(2) or 7(2) if the condition, requirement or practice is reasonable in the circumstances.
- (2) The matters to be taken into account in deciding whether a condition, requirement or practice is reasonable in the circumstances include:
 - (a) the nature and extent of the disadvantage resulting from the imposition, or proposed imposition, of the condition, requirement or practice; and
 - (b) the feasibility of overcoming or mitigating the disadvantage; and
 - (c) whether the disadvantage is proportionate to the result sought by the person who imposes, or proposes to impose, the condition, requirement or practice.

Section 7C deals with the burden of proof. It provides:

7C Burden of proof

In a proceeding under this Act, the burden of proving that an act does not constitute discrimination because of section 7B lies on the person who did the act.

The current provisions relating to indirect discrimination were inserted by the *Sex Discrimination Amendment Act 1995* (Cth). Prior to the commencement of that amending Act, the indirect discrimination provisions of the SDA were in similar terms to those currently in the DDA. This section considers the jurisprudence developed prior to 1995 only where it is relevant to the interpretation of the present provisions.

In Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation¹⁴⁶ ('Mayer'), Driver FM referred to the second reading speech of the Sex Discrimination Amendment Bill 1995, in which the then Attorney-General stated:

The bill sets out a simpler definition of indirect discrimination. It provides that a person discriminates against another person if the discriminator imposes or proposes to impose a condition, requirement or practice that has or is likely to have the effect of disadvantaging the person discriminated against because of, for

¹⁴⁵ See 5.2.3 below.

¹⁴⁶ [2003] FMCA 209, [72].

example, his or her sex. The focus is on broad patterns of behaviour which adversely affect people who are members of a particular group.¹⁴⁷

There are three constituent elements to the current indirect discrimination provisions of the SDA. These are:

- the discriminator imposes, or proposes to impose, a condition, requirement or practice;
- the condition, requirement or practice has, or is likely to have, the
 effect of disadvantaging persons of the same sex or marital status as
 the aggrieved person, or persons who are also pregnant or
 potentially pregnant; and
- the condition, requirement or practice is not reasonable in the circumstances.

These elements will be considered below together with the relevant case law.

In a number of cases, issues surrounding family responsibilities and requests for parttime work have been considered within the context of the definition of indirect sex discrimination. This is significant because s 14(3A) of the SDA only makes direct discrimination on the basis of family responsibilities unlawful in cases of dismissal from employment.¹⁴⁸ In contrast, discrimination on the basis of sex is unlawful in the employment context more generally, and in many other areas of public life.¹⁴⁹ In addition, invoking the indirect sex discrimination definition in such matters avoids the potential difficulties associated with the causation and comparator elements of the direct family responsibilities discrimination provisions.¹⁵⁰

4.3.1 Defining the 'condition, requirement or practice'

The words 'requirement or condition' should be given a broad or liberal interpretation to enable the objects of the legislation to be fulfilled.¹⁵¹

In Australian Iron & Steel Pty Ltd v Banovic, 152 Dawson J considered the words 'requirement or condition' in the context of the indirect sex discrimination provisions of the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW). Dawson J stated:

it is clear that the words 'requirement or condition' should be construed broadly so as to cover any form of qualification or prerequisite demanded by an employer of his employee: *Clarke v Eley (IMI) Kynoch Ltd* (1983) ICR 165, at pp 170-171. Nevertheless, it is necessary in each particular instance to formulate the actual requirement or condition with some precision.¹⁵³

See pt II, divs 1 and 2.

23

¹⁴⁷ Commonwealth, *Parliamentary Debates*, House of Representatives, 28 June 1995, 2460 (Hon Michael Lavarch, Attorney-General).

¹⁴⁸ See 4.2.5 above.

¹⁵⁰ Hon John von Doussa QC and Craig Lenehan, 'Barbequed or Burned? Flexibility in Work Arrangements and the Sex Discrimination Act' (2004) 27 University of New South Wales Law Journal 892.

¹⁵¹ Waters v Public Transport Corporation (1991) 173 CLR 349, 393 (Dawson and Toohey JJ), 406-407 (McHugh J); Styles v Secretary, Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade (1988) 84 ALR 408, 422-423; Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation [2003] FMCA 209, [72]-[73]; Clarke v Catholic Education Office (2003) 202 ALR 340, 351 [44]. See also the discussion of the phrase 'requirement or condition' within the indirect discrimination provisions of the DDA (see 5.2.3(b) below).

¹⁵² (1989) 168 CLR 165.

¹⁵³ (1989) 168 CLR 165, 185.

This passage was cited with approval by the High Court in Waters v Public Transport Corporation¹⁵⁴ in the context of the indirect discrimination provisions of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (Vic).

In a number of indirect sex discrimination cases involving issues of family responsibilities and requests for part-time work, courts have held that the condition, requirement or practice that employees be available to work full-time is a 'condition, requirement or practice' within the meaning of s 5(2) of the SDA. 155 Courts have made this finding in circumstances where the requirement to work full-time formed part of the aggrieved person's ongoing terms and conditions of employment. 156

In Escobar v Rainbow Printing Ptv Ltd (No 2)157 ('Escobar'), a female employee sought to return from maternity leave on a part-time basis. Her request was denied and her employment later terminated. Driver FM found this amounted to direct discrimination on the ground of family responsibilities 158 and that in the event he was wrong in relation to this finding, further found that the respondent's conduct constituted indirect discrimination on the basis of sex.¹⁵⁹ His Honour held that the refusal to countenance part-time work involved the imposition of an unreasonable condition that was likely to disadvantage women because of their disproportionate responsibility for the care of children. 160 In making this finding, Driver FM cited with approval¹⁶¹ the decision of HREOC in *Hickie v Hunt & Hunt*¹⁶² ('*Hickie*').

In *Hickie*, the complainant had taken maternity leave shortly after having been made a contract partner at the respondent law firm. She complained of a range of less favourable treatment during the period of her maternity leave and following her return to work on a part-time basis. Relevantly, an area of her practice was removed from her on the basis that it could not be managed working part-time. Commissioner Evatt stated 'I find that the condition or requirement that Ms Hickie work full-time to maintain her position was a condition or requirement likely to disadvantage women'. 163 The respondent's conduct was found to constitute indirect sex discrimination.

In Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation, 164 ('Mayer') the applicant similarly wanted to work part-time following a period of maternity leave. The applicant had worked on a full-time basis prior to her maternity leave. Driver FM held as follows:

> The test under s.5(2) is whether a condition, requirement or practice has, or is likely to have, the effect of disadvantaging a person of the same sex as the aggrieved person; in this case, a woman. In this case the relevant condition or requirement was that the applicant work full-time. Such a condition or requirement is likely to have the effect of disadvantaging women because, as I have noted,

¹⁵⁴ (1991) 173 CLR 349, 393 (Dawson and Toohey JJ), 406-407 (McHugh J).

¹⁵⁵ Hickie v Hunt & Hunt [1998] HREOCA 8, [6.17.10] (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910); Escobar v Rainbow Printing (No 2) [2002] FMCA 122, [33] and [37]; Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation [2003] FMCA 209, [69]-[73].

Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation [2003] FMCA 209.

¹⁵⁷ [2002] FMCA 122.

¹⁵⁸ See 4.2.5 above.

¹⁵⁹ [2002] FMCA 122, [37].

¹⁶⁰ [2002] FMCA 122, [33], [37].

¹⁶¹ [2002] FMCA 122, [33].

¹⁶² Hickie v Hunt & Hunt [1998] HREOCA 8 (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910).

¹⁶³ [1998] HREOCA 8, [6.17.10] (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910).

¹⁶⁴ [2003] FMCA 209.

women have a greater need for part-time employment than men. That is because only women get pregnant and because women bear the dominant responsibility for child rearing, particularly in the period closely following the birth of a child. ...In this case discrimination under s.5(2) is established because the respondent insisted upon the applicant working full-time against her wishes.¹⁶⁵

One exception to this general line of authority is the decision of Raphael FM in *Kelly v TPG Internet Pty Ltd*¹⁶⁶ ('*Kelly*'). In this case, the applicant complained that the refusal by her employer to make available part-time work upon her return from maternity leave amounted to indirect sex discrimination. Raphael FM discussed, in particular, the decisions in *Hickie* and *Mayer*, and distinguished them from the case before him. His Honour noted that in both of those cases the applicants had been refused benefits that had either been made available to them (as in *Hickie*) or that were generally available (as in *Mayer*). In the present case, there were no part-time employees in managerial positions employed with the respondent. His Honour stated:

Section 5(2) makes it unlawful for a discriminator to impose or propose to impose a condition requirement or practice but that condition requirement or practice must surely relate to the existing situation between the parties when it is imposed or sought to be imposed. The existing situation between the parties in this case is one of full time employment. No additional requirement was being placed upon Ms Kelly. She was being asked to carry out her contract in accordance with its terms.¹⁶⁷

In those circumstances, his Honour held that the behaviour of the respondent constituted a refusal to provide the applicant with a benefit. It was not the imposition of a condition or requirement that was a detriment: 'there was in reality no requirement to work full-time only a refusal to allow a variation of the contract to permit it'. 168

The correctness of the decision in *Kelly* was considered by Driver FM in *Howe v Qantas Airways Ltd*¹⁶⁹ ('*Howe*'). Driver FM disagreed with Raphael FM in *Kelly*, on this issue, albeit in obiter comments, for reasons which included the following. First, if Raphael FM was correct in distinguishing the earlier authorities, an employer who consistently provides part-time work but then later refuses to do so can be liable under the SDA (as in *Mayer*) but an employer who has a policy or practice of never permitting reduced working hours cannot (as in *Kelly*). This would be an odd result. Second, in characterising the refusal of the respondent to allow the applicant to work part-time as a refusal to confer a benefit or advantage, Raphael FM conflated the notion of 'disadvantage' in s 5(2) of the SDA with the imposition of a 'condition, requirement or practice'. They are separate elements of s 5(2) and must remain so if the provision is to operate effectively. Third, Raphael FM did not consider whether

¹⁶⁷ (2003) 176 FLR 214, 233 [79].

¹⁶⁵ [2003] FMCA 209, [71].

^{166 (2003) 176} FLR 214.

¹⁶⁸ (2003) 176 FLR 214, 234 [83].

¹⁶⁹ (2004) 188 FLR 1. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this matter and made submissions in relation to, inter alia, the correctness of the decision in *Kelly v TPG Internet Pty Ltd* (2003) 176 FLR 214. The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_submissions_fifth.html and her supplementary submissions are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_supplementary_submissions.html.

the respondent's insistence on full-time work may have constituted a 'practice' within the meaning of s 5(2) irrespective of whether it was a 'condition or requirement'. 170

In State of New South Wales v Amery¹⁷¹ ('Amery') the respondents were employed by the NSW Department of Education as temporary teachers. They alleged that they had been indirectly discriminated against on the basis of their sex under ss 24(1)(b)¹⁷² and 25(2)(a)¹⁷³ of the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW) ('ADA') because, as temporary teachers, they were not entitled to access higher salary levels available to their permanent colleagues for the same work.

Under the Teaching Services Act 1980 (NSW) (the 'Teaching Act'), the teaching service is divided into permanent employees and temporary employees. Different conditions attach to each under the Act. As well, under the award¹⁷⁴ permanent teachers are paid more than temporary teachers. The award contains 13 pay scales for permanent teachers and 5 for temporary teachers; the highest pay scale for temporary teachers is equivalent to level 8 of the permanent teachers scale.

The respondents alleged that the Department imposed a 'requirement or condition' 175 on them that they have permanent status to be able to access higher salary levels.

Different approaches were taken to this issue by members of the High Court.

Gleeson CJ agreed with Beazley JA in the NSW Court of Appeal¹⁷⁶ that the relevant conduct of the Department was its practice of not paying above award wages to temporary teachers engaged in the same work as their permanent colleagues. His Honour said that it was in this sense that the Department 'required' the respondents to comply with a condition of having a permanent status in order to have access to the higher salary levels available to permanent teachers. 177

Gummow, Hayne and Crennan JJ (Callinan J agreeing)¹⁷⁸ held that the respondents had not properly identified the relevant 'employment'. 179 Their Honours held that 'employment' referred to the 'actual employment' engaged in by a complainant. They stated that:

> the term 'employment' may in certain situations, denote more than the mere engagement by one person of another in what is described as an employeremployee relationship. Often the notion of employment takes its content from the identification of the position to which a person has been appointed. In short, the presence of the word 'employment' in s 25(2)(a) prompts the question, 'employment as what?' 180

As different conditions attached to permanent and temporary teachers under the Teaching Act, their Honours held that the respondents were not employed as

26

¹⁷⁰ (2004) 188 FLR 1, 149 [124].

^{171 (2006) 230} CLR 174. For discussion of this decision, see Joanna Hemmingway, 'Implications for Pay Equity in State of NSW v Amery', (2006) 44(5) Law Society Journal 44.

² Section 24(1)(b) defines what amounts to indirect discrimination on the ground of sex.

Section 25(2)(a) provides that it is unlawful for an employer to discriminate against an employee on the ground of sex in the terms or conditions of employment which the employer affords the employee.

The Crown Employees (Teachers and Related Employees) Salaries and Conditions Award.

¹⁷⁵ Note that the ADA definition of indirect discrimination refers to a 'requirement or condition' (s 24(1)(b)) and does not include a 'practice' as in s 5(2) of the SDA.

176 Amery v New South Wales (Director General NSW Department of Education & Training) [2004] NSWCA 404.

¹⁷⁷ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 183 [17]. ¹⁷⁸ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 231 [205].

^{179 (2006) 230} CLR 174, 196 [69], 198 [78].

¹⁸⁰ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 196 [68].

'teachers' but as 'casual teachers'. 181 Hence, the alleged requirement or condition was 'incongruous'.182

Kirby J dissented. He described the approach of Gummow, Hayne and Crennan JJ as 'narrow and antagonistic' and inconsistent with the beneficial and purposive interpretive approach to remedial legislation.¹⁸³ In particular, Kirby J stated that the majority's approach gives 'considerable scope [to] employers to circumvent ... [discrimination legislation] ... [A]ll that is required in order to do so is for an employer to adopt the simple expedient of defining narrowly the "employment" that is offered'. 184 His Honour held that the Department imposed a requirement or condition of 'permanent employment' on the respondents in order to gain access to the higher salary levels. 185 This was because the terms on which the Department offered employment to the respondents included the 'relevant terms specifically addressed to non-permanent casual supply teachers ... [which] terms discriminated against the respondents'. 186 His Honour also reached a different conclusion to Gleeson CJ on the issue of reasonableness on the facts of the case. 187

4.3.2 Disadvantaging

A condition, requirement or practice must have, or be likely to have, the effect of 'disadvantaging' persons of the same sex or marital status as the aggrieved person, or persons who are also pregnant or potentially pregnant. The term 'disadvantaging' is not defined in the SDA and there is little discussion of the concept in the case law.

As discussed in 4.3.1 above, women who have encountered problems when seeking to work part-time upon return to work from maternity leave have successfully argued that a requirement to work full-time is a condition, requirement or practice that has the effect of disadvantaging women. 188 The courts have accepted, sometimes as a matter of judicial notice without any specific evidence, that this disadvantage stems from the fact that women are more likely to require part-time work to meet their family responsibilities.

The seminal statement to this effect comes from the decision of Commissioner Evatt in Hickie v Hunt & Hunt: 189

> Although no statistical data was produced at the hearing, the records produced by Hunt and Hunt suggest that it is predominantly women who seek the opportunity for part time work and that a substantial number of women in the firm have been working on a part time basis. I also infer from general knowledge that women are far more likely than men to require at least some periods of part time work during their careers, and in particular a period of part time work after maternity leave, in order to meet family responsibilities. In these circumstances I find that the

¹⁸² (2006) 230 CLR 174, 196 [69].

^{181 (2006) 230} CLR 174, 196 [68].

¹⁸³ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 215 [138].

¹⁸⁴ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 215 [137].

¹⁸⁵ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 216 [142].

¹⁸⁶ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 216 [142].

¹⁸⁷ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 184-185 [18]-[25] (Gleeson CJ), 222-230 [167]-[195] (Kirby J).

¹⁸⁸ Hickie v Hunt & Hunt [1998] HREOCA 8, [6.17.10] (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910); Escobar v Rainbow Printing (No 2) [2002] FMCA 122, [33] and [37]; Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology

Organisation [2003] FMCA 209, [69]-[73].

189 [1998] HREOCA 8, [6.17.10] (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910).

condition or requirement that Ms Hickie work full-time to maintain her position was a condition or requirement likely to disadvantage women.

This passage was cited with approval in *Escobar v Rainbow Printing Pty Ltd (No 2)*¹⁹⁰ and in *Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation* ('Mayer'). ¹⁹¹ In *Mayer*, Driver FM went on to state, 'I need no evidence to establish that women per se are disadvantaged by a requirement that they work full-time'. ¹⁹²

In *Howe v Qantas Airways Ltd*¹⁹³ ('*Howe*'), the issue of whether courts could continue to take judicial notice of this 'disadvantage' in the absence of any evidence was raised by the respondent. Driver FM stated (albeit in obiter comments) that 'it is open to the Court to take judicial notice that as a matter of common observation, women have the predominant role in the care of babies and infant children...and that it follows from this that any full-time work requirement is liable to disproportionately affect women'. ¹⁹⁴ Driver FM went on to state:

The point is that the present state of Australian society shows that women are the dominant caregivers to young children. While that position remains (and it may well change over time) s 5(2) of the SDA operates to protect women against indirect sex discrimination in the performance of that care giving role. ¹⁹⁵

The Commonwealth Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in *Howe*. ¹⁹⁶ In relation to this issue she submitted that the court could, at the present time, continue to take judicial notice of the fact that a requirement to work full time and without flexibility disadvantages, or is likely to disadvantage, women. She further submitted that that fact is so 'notorious' that it could be judicially noticed without further inquiry.

4.3.3 Reasonableness

Section 7B(2) identifies matters that are to be taken into account in determining reasonableness. It is not an exhaustive definition. It is clear from the authorities in relation to 'reasonableness' that all of the circumstances of a case should be taken into account. The onus of establishing that the requirement or condition is reasonable rests on the respondent (s 7C).

The following passage from the decision of Bowen CJ and Gummow J in *Secretary*, *Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade v Styles*¹⁹⁷ has been described as the 'starting point' ¹⁹⁸ in determining reasonableness:

the test of reasonableness is less demanding than one of necessity, but more demanding than a test of convenience ... The criterion is an objective one, which requires the court to weigh the nature and extent of the discriminatory effect, on

¹⁹¹ [2003] FMCA 209, [70].

¹⁹⁴ (2004) 188 FLR 1, 146 [112].

¹⁹⁰ [2002] FMCA 122, [33].

¹⁹² [2003] FMCA 209, [70].

¹⁹³ (2004) 188 FLR 1.

¹⁹⁵ (2004) 188 FLR 1, 147 [117].

The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_submissions_fifth.html. The Commissioner's supplementary submissions are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_supplementary_submissions.html. 197 (1989) 23 FCR 251.

¹⁹⁸ Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 111 (Sackville J).

the one hand, against the reasons advanced in favour of the requirement or condition on the other. All the circumstances of the case must be taken into account.¹⁹⁹

The following propositions can be distilled in relation to 'reasonableness' for the purposes of s 7B of the SDA:

- The test is an objective one but the subjective preferences of an aggrieved person or a respondent may be relevant in determining the reasonableness of the alleged discriminatory conduct;²⁰⁰
- Reasonableness is a question of fact which can only be determined by taking into account all of the circumstances of the case which may include the financial or economic circumstances of the respondent;²⁰¹
- The test is reasonableness, not correctness or 'whether the alleged discriminator could have made a 'better' or more informed decision';²⁰² and
- It is not enough, however, that a decision has a 'logical or understandable basis'. While this may be relevant, taking into account all of the circumstances, such a decision may nevertheless not be reasonable.²⁰³

In *Escobar v Rainbow Printing Pty Ltd (No 2)*,²⁰⁴ (*'Escobar'*), while not expressly referring to s 7B(2), Driver FM considered some matters relevant to the reasonableness of the requirement or condition. As discussed above (see 4.2.5 and 4.3.1), this matter concerned an employer's refusal of a request to work part-time from an employee returning from maternity leave. Driver FM found that the respondent's 'refusal ... to countenance the possibility of part-time employment for the applicant', and his subsequent dismissal of her on that basis, was not reasonable.²⁰⁵ In arriving at this conclusion, his Honour found the following factual matters persuasive:²⁰⁶

- the respondent had, at least initially, been prepared to countenance the possibility of the applicant working part-time;
- while the employment of a full-time employee to fill the applicant's position reduced the flexibility of the respondent to offer part-time

²⁰⁵ [2002] FMCA 122, [32].

29

¹⁹⁹ (1989) 23 FCR 251, 263. This passage was also approved by the High Court in *Waters v Public Transport Corporation* (1991) 173 CLR 349, 395-396 (Dawson and Toohey JJ, with whom Mason CJ and Gaudron J agreed, 365), 378 (Brennan J), 383 (Deane J); applied in *Australian Medical Council v Wilson* (1996) 68 FCR 46, 60 (Heerey J, with whom Black CJ. 47, and Sackville J. 79, agreed).

⁽Heerey J, with whom Black CJ, 47, and Sackville J, 79, agreed).

200 Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1995) 63 FCR 74, 83 (Lockhart J); cited with approval in Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 111 (Sackville J).

Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 111
 (Sackville J); Waters v Public Transport Corporation (1991) 173 CLR 349.
 Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1995) 63 FCR 74, 87 (Sheppard J);

²⁰² Commonwealth v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1995) 63 FCR 74, 87 (Sheppard J); Australian Medical Council v Wilson (1996) 68 FCR 46, 61 (Heerey J); Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 112 (Sackville J).

Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 112 (Sackville J).

203 Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission (1997) 80 FCR 78, 112113 (Sackville J).

²⁰⁴ [2002] FMCA 122.

²⁰⁶ [2002] FMCA 122, [32], [37].

employment, that reduction of flexibility was one that the respondent brought upon itself; and

the employment of the full-time employee was undertaken without reference to the applicant in circumstances where the respondent had agreed to discuss the applicant's future working arrangements. ²⁰⁷

In *Hickie v Hunt & Hunt*, ²⁰⁸ where part of the complainant's practice area was taken away when she returned to work on a part-time rather than full-time basis, Commissioner Evatt found that 'the removal of her practice can be regarded as a consequence of her inability to meet a requirement that she work full-time'. 209 Such a requirement was 'not reasonable having regard to the circumstances of the case'. 210 The Commissioner went on to say:

> Hunt and Hunt have accepted that women should be able to work part time after their maternity leave. In that case, they should have approached Ms Hickie's problem by seeking alternative solutions which would have enabled her to maintain as much of her practice as possible. The firm should have considered seriously other alternatives. Ms Hickie would return in a few weeks and she was willing to work on urgent matters. Part of her practice could have been preserved for her with other arrangements.²¹¹

In Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation, 212 the refusal of the applicant's request to work part-time was also found to be unreasonable. Driver FM found that the evidence made it clear that there was in fact part-time work available for Ms Mayer. This work was 'different work to that which the applicant had been doing, but it was important work that the applicant was able to do and that needed to be done'.213 Consequently, the respondent's refusal to accommodate the applicant's request for part-time work was not reasonable:

> Ms Bailey identified work that could properly occupy Ms Mayer's time until 3 January 2003 for two days each week. At a minimum, therefore, the respondent should have offered Ms Mayer employment for two days per week for the balance of her contract until 3 January 2003.

> The work that Ms Mayer could have performed part-time would have been discrete project work, rather than the performance of her previous functions. Ms Mayer gave evidence of important projects that she could have assisted on. Ms Bailey in her e-mail, stated that there were 'many projects' that Ms Mayer could work on. In my view, with a little imagination the respondent could, if it had wished to, found useful work for Ms Mayer to do for three days a week until 3 January 2003.

> ... [T]he respondent's effort to find part-time work for the applicant was inadequate. The respondent's refusal of part-time work for three days per week was not reasonable. 214

His Honour found, however, in respect of the applicant's proposal for job-sharing or working partly from home:

²¹⁰ [1998] HREOCA 8, [4.5.30].

²⁰⁷ It may be questionable whether or not this last factor is a matter relevant to the reasonableness of the requirement or condition per se: rather, it would seem to relate to the manner in which that requirement or condition was imposed. ²⁰⁸ [1998] HREOCA 8 (extract at (1998) EOC 92-910).

²⁰⁹ [1998] HREOCA 8, [4.5.28].

²¹¹ [1998] HREOCA 8, [4.5.30].

²¹² [2003] FMCA 209.

²¹³ [2003] FMCA 209, [75].

²¹⁴ [2003] FMCA 209, [75]-[76].

It was reasonable for the respondent to refuse Ms Mayer's proposal for job sharing of her role, or for her to work partly from home... Ms Mayer's role required both a consistency of approach and regular interaction with other staff. The effective performance of that role would have been problematic if Ms Mayer had worked partly from home, or had shared her duties with another employee. It was clear from Ms Mayer's own evidence that she would not have been able to work fulltime from home while caring for her child.²¹⁵

As in *Escobar*, his Honour did not make express reference to s 7B(2) when expressing his conclusions on reasonableness.

In New South Wales v Amery, 216 the respondents were employed by the Department of Education as temporary teachers and alleged that they had been indirectly discriminated against on the basis of their sex under ss 24(1)(b) and 25(2)(a) of the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW) ('ADA') because, as temporary teachers, they were not entitled to access higher salary levels available to their permanent colleagues for the same work (see discussion at 4.3.1 above).

Gleeson CJ (Callinan and Heydon JJ agreeing)217 was the only member of the majority to consider the issue of reasonableness. His Honour stated that the question of reasonableness in this case was not whether teaching work of a temporary teacher has the same value of a permanent teacher, but 'whether, having regard to their respective conditions of employment, it is reasonable to pay one less than the other'. 218

In light of the 'significantly different' incidents of employment for permanent and temporary teachers, in particular the condition of 'deployability', his Honour held that it was reasonable for the Department to pay permanent teachers more. 219 Furthermore, his Honour held that, it would be impracticable for the Department to adopt the practice of paying above award wages to temporary teachers.²²⁰

Although compliance with an award does not provide a defence under the ADA, Gleeson CJ held that the 'industrial context' may be a relevant circumstance in determining 'reasonableness'. 221 It is relevant to note that the ADA differs from the SDA in this regard: under ss 40(1)(e) and (g) of the SDA direct compliance with an award provides a complete defence.

The relationship between 'direct' and 'indirect' 4.3.4 discrimination

In Commonwealth Bank of Australia v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission, 222 a matter involving a complaint arising under the pre-1995 provisions, Sackville J considered the relationship between 'direct sex discrimination' under s 5(1) and 'indirect discrimination' under s 5(2).

²¹⁵ [2003] FMCA 209, [77]. ²¹⁶ (2006) 230 CLR 174.

^{(2006) 230} CLR 174. 217 (2006) 230 CLR 174, 231 [203] (Callinan J), 233 [210] (Heydon J).

²¹⁸ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 184 [20].

²¹⁹ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 184 [19].

²²⁰ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 184 [21], 185 [24].

²²¹ (2006) 230 CLR 174, 184-185 [22].

^{222 (1997) 80} FCR 78. This matter concerned the issue of indirect discrimination in the context of the opportunity available to employees on extended leave (for reasons related to child birth or child care) to obtain a position after a restructuring process and to entitlement to voluntary retrenchment.

His Honour noted that s 5(2) in both its pre-1995 form and post-1995 form 'addresses "indirect sex discrimination" in the sense of conduct which, although "facially neutral", has a disparate impact on men and women'. Citing Waters v Public Transport Corporation²²⁴ and Australian Medical Council v Wilson²²⁵ his Honour concluded that '[i]t seems to have been established that subss 5(1) and (2) are mutually exclusive in their operation'.

In *Mayer v Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation*,²²⁷ a matter involving a complaint arising under the post-1995 provisions, Driver FM also considered the relationship between the direct and indirect provisions of s 5 of the SDA and found them to be mutually exclusive. His Honour stated:

[Section] 5(2) does not depend on s 5(1) at all to give it meaning. The opening words of both ss 5(1) and 5(2) are the same. The distinction between the two sections is simply that s 5(1) deals with direct discrimination and s 5(2) with indirect discrimination. The provisions are therefore mutually exclusive. The test under s 5(2) is whether a condition, requirement or practice has, or is likely to have, the effect of disadvantaging a person of the same sex as the aggrieved person; in this case, a woman. In this case the relevant condition or requirement was that the applicant work full-time. Such a condition or requirement is likely to have the effect of disadvantaging women because, as I have noted, women have a greater need for part-time employment than men. That is because only women get pregnant and because women bear the dominant responsibility for child rearing, particularly in the period closely following the birth of a child. Discrimination under s 5(2) is either established or not by reference to its own terms, not by reference to s 5(1). In this case discrimination under s 5(2) is established because the respondent insisted upon the applicant working full-time against her wishes. The issue of family responsibilities is only relevant insofar as it establishes that women tend to be disadvantaged by such a requirement.²²⁸

The same reasoning would presumably be applied to the direct and indirect discrimination provisions relating to the grounds of marital status and pregnancy.

This does not, however, prevent applicants from pleading direct and indirect discrimination in the alternative.²²⁹

4.4 Special Measures Under the SDA

Section 7D of the SDA provides that actions which constitute 'special measures' are not discriminatory. This provision 'recognises that certain special measures may have to be taken to overcome discrimination and achieve equality'. ²³⁰

Section 7D of the SDA states:231

²²⁴ (1991) 173 CLR 349, a decision under the *Equal Opportunity Act 1984* (Vic).

²²³ (1997) 80 FCR 78, 97.

^{225 (1996) 68} FCR 46, 55 (Heerey J with whom Black CJ agreed), 74 (Sackville J), a decision under the RDA.

²²⁶ (1997) 80 FCR 78, 97.

²²⁷ [2003] FMCA 209.

²²⁸ [2003] FMCA 209, [71].

²²⁹ See, in the context of the DDA, *Minns v New South Wales* [2002] FMCA 60, [245]; *Hollingdale v Northern Rivers Area Health Service* [2004] FMCA 721. See further 6.8 below

Rivers Area Health Service [2004] FMCA 721. See further 6.8 below. ²³⁰ Explanatory Memorandum, Sex Discrimination Amendment Bill 1995 (Cth), [37]-[38].

²³¹ Section 7D was inserted in the SDA in December 1995 by the *Sex Discrimination Amendment Act 1995* (Cth). Prior to 1995, s 33 of the SDA related to special measures. That provision was considered in *Eleven Fellow Members of the McLeod Country Golf Club v McLeod Country Gold Club* [1995] HREOCA 25; *Proudfoot v ACT*

7D Special measures intended to achieve equality

- (1) A person may take special measures for the purpose of achieving substantive equality between:
 - (a) men and women; or
 - (b) people of different marital status; or
 - (c) women who are pregnant and people who are not pregnant; or
 - (d) women who are potentially pregnant and people who are not potentially pregnant.
- (2) A person does not discriminate against another person under section 5, 6 or 7 by taking special measures authorised by subsection (1).
- (3) A measure is to be treated as being taken for a purpose referred to in subsection (1) if it is taken:
 - (a) solely for that purpose; or
 - (b) for that purpose as well as other purposes, whether or not that purpose is the dominant or substantial one.
- (4) This section does not authorise the taking, or further taking, of special measures for a purpose referred to in subsection (1) that is achieved.

Section 7D was considered for the first time by the Federal Court in *Jacomb v Australian Municipal Administrative Clerical & Services Union*²³² ('*Jacomb*'). In this case, the rules of a union provided that certain elected positions on the branch executive and at the state conference were available only to women. The male applicant alleged that the rules discriminated against men and were unlawful under the SDA. The essence of the applicant's objection to the rules was that the union policy of ensuring 50 per cent representation of women in the governance of the union (which was the basis of the quotas within the rules) exceeded the proportional representation of women in certain of the union branches. Consequently, women were guaranteed representation in particular braches of the union in excess of their membership to the disadvantage of men. The union successfully defended the proceedings on the basis that the rules complained of were special measures within the meaning of s 7D of the SDA.

The special measures provision is limited, in its terms, by a test as to purpose. Section 7D(1) provides that a person may take special measures for the purpose of achieving substantive equality between, amongst others, men and women. The achievement of substantive equality need not be the only, or even the primary purpose of the measures in question (s 7D(3)). It was accepted by Crennan J in *Jacomb* that the test as to purpose is, at least in part, a subjective test.²³³ Crennan J stated 'it is the intention and purpose of the person taking a special measure, which governs the characterisation of such a measure as non-discriminatory'.²³⁴ In applying this test, Crennan J was satisfied that the union believed substantive equality between its male and female members had not been achieved and that addressing this problem required women being represented in the governance and high echelons of the union so as to

Board of Health (1992) EOC 92-417; The Municipal Officers' Association of Australia [1991] 93 IRCommA; Australian Journalists Association [1988] 375 IRCommA. Those cases are, however, of little assistance in the interpretation of s 7D as the section was in substantially different terms.

232 (2004) 140 FCR 149. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this matter and her

submissions can be found at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. https://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html. <a href="https://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/

achieve genuine power sharing. Crennan J commented that it 'was clear from the evidence that part of the purpose of the rules was to attract female members to the union, but this does not disqualify the rules from qualifying as special measures under s 7D (subs 7D(3))'.235

Section 7D also requires the court to consider the special measure objectively. Crennan J appeared to accept the submission of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner (appearing as amicus curiae²³⁶) that s 7D requires the court to assess whether it was reasonable for the person taking the measure to conclude that the measure would further the purpose of achieving substantive equality.²³⁷ In making this determination, the Sex Discrimination Commissioner submitted that the court must at least consider whether the measure taken was one which a reasonable entity in the same circumstances would regard as capable of achieving that goal. The court should not substitute its own decision. Rather it should consider whether, in the particular circumstances, a measure imposed was one which was proportionate to the goal. Crennan J stated that she was satisfied, on the evidence, that the union rules were a reasonable special measure when tested objectively.²³⁸

Section 7D(4) provides that the taking, or further taking, of special measures for the purpose of achieving substantive equality is not permitted once that purpose has been achieved. This gives rise to the question: when can it be said that measures are no longer authorised because their purpose has been achieved? Crennan J stated:

> Having regard to the inflexibility of the quotas and the express provisions of subs 7D(4), monitoring is important to ensure the limited impact of such measures on persons in the applicant's position. The rules have only been utilised once and there was evidence that elections to the relevant positions were for four-year terms. Accordingly, it is too soon to find that the special measure is no longer needed or that rules 5 and 9 are deprived of their character as a special measure because they have been utilized once. However, rules 5 and 9 cannot remain valid as a special measure beyond the 'exigency' (namely the need for substantive equality between men and women in the governance of the union) which called them forth. ²³⁹

4.5 **Areas of Discrimination**

The bulk of the claims that have been brought under the SDA have related to employment. However, the provisions in Part II, Divisions 1 and 2 of the SDA also proscribe discrimination in other areas of public life, including:

- education;²⁴⁰
- the provision of goods, services or facilities;²⁴¹
- accommodation and housing;242
- buying or selling land;²⁴³

²³⁵ (2004) 140 FCR 149, 159 [28].

The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/jacomb.html.

^{(2004) 140} FCR 149, 160-161 [34], 168 [62], 169 [65].

²³⁸ (2004) 140 FCR 149, 169 [65].

²³⁹ (2004) 140 FCR 149, 169 [65].

Section 21.

²⁴¹ Section 22.

²⁴² Section 23.

²⁴³ Section 24.

- clubs;244 and
- the administration of Commonwealth laws and programs.²⁴⁵

An overview of the limited jurisprudence that has considered those provisions is set out below.

4.5.1 Provision of services and qualifying bodies

Section 22 of the SDA, which appears in Part II, Division 2 of the SDA, provides:

22 Goods, services and facilities

- It is unlawful for a person who, whether for payment or not, provides goods or services, or makes facilities available, to discriminate against another person on the ground of the other person's sex, marital status, pregnancy or potential pregnancy:
 - by refusing to provide the other person with those goods or (a) services or to make those facilities available to the other person;
 - (b) in the terms or conditions on which the first-mentioned person provides the other person with those goods or services or makes those facilities available to the other person; or
 - in the manner in which the first-mentioned person provides the (c) other person with those goods or services or makes those facilities available to the other person.
- (2)This section binds the Crown in right of a State.

In Ferneley v The Boxing Authority of New South Wales²⁴⁶ ('Ferneley'), Wilcox J considered whether the respondent provided 'services' within the meaning of s 22 of the SDA. The respondent had certain statutory functions under the Boxing and Wrestling Control Act 1986 (NSW) ('Boxing Act'), including under s 8(1), which provides:

> a male person of or above the age of 18 years may make an application to the Authority to be registered as a boxer of a prescribed class.

There were no provisions in the *Boxing Act* for registration of females. The applicant applied to the respondent to be registered as a kick boxer in New South Wales. That application was refused by the respondent, on the basis of s 8(1) of the Boxing Act.

It was accepted by all parties that the respondent should be treated as the Crown in right of the State of New South Wales.²⁴⁷

In the proceedings before the Federal Court, the applicant sought, inter alia, a declaration that s 8(1) of the *Boxing Act* was inoperative by reason of inconsistency with s 22 of the SDA and the operation of s 109 of the Constitution. It was necessary to consider whether the respondent's acts of failing to consider, on its merits, the applicant's application for registration involved a failure to provide a 'service' within the meaning of s 22. In deciding this question, s 18, which appears in Part II, Division 1 of the SDA, was also relevant. This provides:

²⁴⁴ Section 25.
²⁴⁵ Section 26.

²⁴⁶ (2001) 115 FCR 306. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this matter and her submissions are available at http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/ferneley.html. ²⁴⁷ (2001) 115 FCR 306, 307-308 [2].

18 Qualifying bodies

It is unlawful for an authority or body that is empowered to confer, renew, extend, revoke or withdraw an authorization or qualification that is needed for or facilitates the practice of a profession, the carrying on of a trade or the engaging in of an occupation to discriminate against a person on the ground of the person's sex, marital status, pregnancy or potential pregnancy:

- by refusing or failing to confer, renew or extend the authorisation or qualification;
- (b) in the terms or conditions on which it is prepared to confer the authorisation or qualification or to renew or extend the authorisation or qualification; or
- by revoking or withdrawing the authorisation or qualification or varying the terms or conditions upon which it is held.

Section 18 did not apply in this matter, as (unlike s 22) it does not bind the Crown in right of a State. However, Wilcox J held that, as Parliament had included a special provision concerning sex discrimination by authorities empowered to confer an authorisation or qualification needed for engaging in an occupation, s 22 must be read down to the extent necessary to exclude cases covered by that special provision. His Honour stated that this view was supported by the structure of the SDA, the fact that the heading of Division 1 was 'Discrimination in Work' and the fact that Division 2 was headed 'Discrimination in Other Areas'. His Honour noted that the registration sought by the applicant was to enable her to 'work' (as professional kick boxing was her source of income) and stated that discrimination in that area should therefore not be read to extend to provisions relating to 'other areas'. 248

Wilcox J thus held that it was not a breach of s 22 for the respondent to decline to consider the applicant's application on its merits and the proceedings were dismissed on that basis.

Section 22 also arose for consideration in MW v Royal Women's Hospital²⁴⁹ and McBain v Victoria²⁵⁰ (discussed in 4.2.3 above).

In AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages, 251 Heerey J held that the refusal to alter the record of the applicant's sex in her birth registration was the refusal of a service. Heerey J stated, in obiter:

> 'Service' involves an 'act of helpful activity' or 'the supplying of any...activities...required or demanded' (Macquarie Dictionary) or 'the action of serving, helping, or benefiting, conduct tending to the welfare or advantage of another' (Shorter Oxford Dictionary). Altering the Birth Register was an activity. The applicant requested the Registrar to perform that activity. The carrying out of that activity would have conferred a benefit on the applicant. The Registrar, because of the terms of the BDM Act, declined the request to carry out that activity. This was the refusal of a service. An activity carried out by a government official can none the less be one which confers a benefit on an individual.²⁵²

²⁵¹ (2006) 235 ALR 147. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in these proceedings

²⁴⁸ (2001) 115 FCR 306, 319 [64]-[66].

²⁴⁹ Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Kohl, 5 March 1997 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-886). ²⁵⁰ (2000) 99 FCR 116.

and made submissions, inter alia, on the characterisation of the relevant service: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/ab.html. 252 (2006) 235 ALR 147, 158 [65]-[66].

On appeal, the Registrar did not contest Heerey J's finding that the Registrar's conduct in declining the appellant's request to alter her birth registration record was the refusal of a service for the purposes of s 22 of the SDA. 253 In AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages²⁵⁴ Kenny J considered it unnecessary to decide upon this point given her dismissal of the appeal on other grounds.255 Black CJ, in dissent, agreed with Heerey J's conclusion on this point and concluded that, 'applying a purposive interpretation of the word "service," the alteration of a person's sex on their birth registration comes within the meaning of that term.²⁵⁶

4.5.2 Clubs

Section 25 of the SDA provides:

25 Clubs

- It is unlawful for a club, the committee of management of a club or a (1) member of the committee of management of a club to discriminate against a person who is not a member of the club on the ground of the person's sex, marital status, pregnancy or potential pregnancy:
 - (a) by refusing or failing to accept the person's application for membership; or
 - in the terms or conditions on which the club is prepared to (b) admit the person to membership.
- It is unlawful for a club, the committee of management of a club or a (2) member of the committee of management of a club to discriminate against a person who is a member of the club on the ground of the member's sex, marital status, pregnancy or potential pregnancy:
 - in the terms or conditions of membership that are afforded to (a) the member:
 - (b) by refusing or failing to accept the member's application for a particular class or type of membership;
 - by denying the member access, or limiting the member's (c) access, to any benefit provided by the club;
 - by depriving the member of membership or varying the terms (d) of membership; or
 - by subjecting the member to any other detriment. (e)

In Ciemcioch v Echuca-Moama RSL Citizens Club Ltd, 257 the complainant applied for membership at the respondent club. Her application was considered but rejected by the club's committee. There were only two other instances of rejection in the history of the club. The complainant's husband had been suspended from the club a year previously and had taken legal action against the Club which settled a month before the complainant's application was considered.

Commissioner O'Connor held that the club had discriminated against the complainant on the ground of marital status by having regard to an unlawful consideration, namely the characteristic of loyalty towards and support of a husband's lawful activities. This was a characteristic generally imputed to the relationship of marriage. The

²⁵³ AB v Registrar of Births, Deaths & Marriages (2007) 162 FCR 528, 560 [116] (Kenny J).

²⁵⁴ (2007) 162 FCR 528, 560 [116].

²⁵⁵ (2007) 162 FCR 528, 560 [117].

²⁵⁶ (2007) 162 FCR 528, 537-538 [25]-[29] (Black CJ).

Commissioner was also satisfied that the Club would not have treated a person of different marital status in the same way in similar circumstances. Although not specifically identified, the Commissioner appears to have considered that the conduct breached s 25(1)(a) (refusal of membership). The Commissioner declared that the complainant's application to join the Club should be considered and that the respondent should pay her \$3,000 by way of compensation.

In contrast, the complaints in Eleven Fellow Members of the McLeod Country Golf Club v McLeod Country Golf Club²⁵⁸ were made by existing members of a club and were therefore brought under s 25(2) of the SDA. The male complainants alleged that they had been discriminated against on the ground of sex as they were eligible only for 'fellow' membership, not ordinary membership of the Club. As fellow members they were unable to participate in management of the Club. Management was reserved for women.

Since in this case it was males and not females who alleged unlawful discrimination, the power of HREOC to grant relief depended upon a finding that the Club was a trading corporation for the purposes of s 9(13) of the SDA.²⁵⁹ In dismissing the complaint, Commissioner Carter was satisfied the Club was not a trading corporation.²⁶⁰

Commissioner Carter was also satisfied that the Club's arrangements came within the special measures exemption under the SDA (see 4.4 above).²⁶¹

4.6 Sexual Harassment

Section 28A of the SDA provides:

28A Meaning of sexual harassment

- For the purposes of this Division, a person sexually harasses another person (the *person harassed*) if:
 - the person makes an unwelcome sexual advance, or an (a) unwelcome request for sexual favours, to the person harassed;
 - (b) engages in other unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature in relation to the person harassed;

in circumstances in which a reasonable person, having regard to all the circumstances, would have anticipated that the person harassed would be offended, humiliated or intimidated.

(2) In this section:

> conduct of a sexual nature includes making a statement of a sexual nature to a person, or in the presence of a person, whether the statement is made orally or in writing.

That provision appears in Part II Division 3 of the SDA, which goes on to proscribe sexual harassment in various areas of public life, including:

²⁵⁸ [1995] HREOCA 25 (extract at (1995) EOC 92-739). See 4.1.2(b) above.

²⁶⁰ [1995] HREOCA 25 (extract at (1995) EOC 92-739).

²⁶¹ [1995] HREOCA 25 (extract at (1995) EOC 92-739, 79,485). Note the special measures provision referred to by Commissioner Carter as s 33 is now contained in s 7D.

- employment and partnerships;²⁶²
- qualifying bodies;²⁶³
- educational institutions;²⁶⁴
- the provision of goods, services or facilities;²⁶⁵
- accommodation;266
- buying or selling land;²⁶⁷
- clubs;268 and
- the administration of Commonwealth laws and programs.²⁶⁹

This section considers the following issues in relation to sexual harassment:

- conduct of a sexual nature:
- unwelcome conduct;
- single incidents;
- the 'reasonable person' test;
- sexual harassment as a form of sex discrimination; and
- sex-based harassment and sex discrimination.

4.6.1 Conduct of a sexual nature

Section 28A(2) defines the term 'conduct of a sexual nature' in a non-exhaustive fashion. A broad interpretative approach has been taken in relation to the scope of that term. For example, both in the federal jurisdiction and in other Australian jurisdictions, exposure to sexually explicit material and sexually suggestive jokes has been held to constitute conduct of a sexual nature.²⁷⁰

That line of cases was expressly approved by Driver FM in the cases of Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd²⁷¹ and Johanson v Blackledge. ²⁷² In the latter case, the sale of a dog bone shaped so as to resemble a penis was held to be conduct of a sexual nature.

Similarly, in the case of Aleksovski v Australia Asia Aerospace Pty Ltd, 273 Raphael FM found that the conduct of a co-worker of the applicant constituted unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature. This conduct included: his declaration of love for the applicant; his suggestion that they discuss matters at his home; his reference to the applicant's relationship with her partner and repeating all of these things the following

²⁶³ Section 28C.

²⁶² Section 28B.

²⁶⁴ Section 28F.

²⁶⁵ Section 28G.

²⁶⁶ Section 28H.

²⁶⁷ Section 28J.

²⁶⁸ Section 28K.

²⁶⁹ Section 28L.

Bennett v Everitt (1988) EOC 92-244; Kiel v Weeks (1989) EOC 92-245; Horne v Press Clough Joint Venture (1994) EOC 92-556; Hopper v Mt Isa Mines (1997) EOC 92-879; Doyle v Riley (1995) EOC 92-748; Bebbington v Dove (1993) EOC 92-543; Hawkins v Malnet Pty Ltd (1995) EOC 92-767; G v R & Department of Health & Community Services [1993] HREOCA 20; Djokic v Sinclair (1994) EOC 92-643; Hill v Water Resources Commission (1985) EOC 92-127; Freestone v Kozma (1989) EOC 92-249. ²⁷¹ [2001] FMCA 91, [24].

²⁷² (2001) 163 FLR 58, 75 [84].

²⁷³ [2002] FMCA 81.

day; and becoming angry and agitated when the applicant refused to do as he wished.274

In Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd, 275 the applicant complained of acts including personal and inappropriate comments and questions by a supervisor, Mr Ong. She also complained that Mr Ong had sat close to her while supervising her, had asked her to model for him and invited her to come to his home for coffee. In relation to the comments, Driver FM held:

> Mr Ong was probably socially clumsy, even socially inept. He may not have intended his comments and questions to be sexual in nature but I do not think that that matters. The comments and questions can objectively be regarded as sexual in nature, they were deliberate and the applicant was the target. 276

As to the invitations to model and to come over for coffee, his Honour also found that these could properly be regarded as sexual in nature.277 However, the conduct of Mr Ong in sitting close to the applicant was found by Driver FM to be part of Mr Ong's 'unfortunate supervision style' rather than being conduct of a sexual nature.²⁷⁸

Certain conduct may on its own not amount to conduct of a sexual nature. However it may do so if it forms part of a broader pattern of inappropriate sexual conduct. ²⁷⁹ This view was expressly adopted by Raphael FM in Shiels v James²⁸⁰ in which it was held that incidents relating to the flicking of elastic bands at the applicant were of a sexual nature as they formed part of a broader pattern of sexual conduct.²⁸¹

4.6.2 **Unwelcome conduct**

For a breach of s 28A to have occurred the alleged conduct or sexual advance must be 'unwelcome'. While determining whether the conduct is of a sexual nature is an objective test, determining whether it is unwelcome is a subjective test. 282

In Aldridge v Booth, 283 Spender J stated:

By 'unwelcome', I take it that the advance, request or conduct was not solicited or invited by the employee, and the employee regarded the conduct as undesirable or offensive: see Michael Rubenstein, 'The Law of Sexual Harassment at Work' (1983) 12 Industrial Law Journal 1 at 7 and Henson v City of Dundee (1982) 682 F 2d 897.284

In Elliott v Nanda,285 the applicant alleged that she was sexually harassed during her employment at a medical centre by the Director of the centre, who was also a medical

²⁷⁶ [2001] FMCA 91, [26].

²⁸⁵ (2001) 111 FCR 240.

40

²⁷⁴ [2002] FMCA 81, [81]-[85]. ²⁷⁵ [2001] FMCA 91.

^[2001] FMCA 91, [29]. Driver FM found that the conduct did not constitute sexual harassment as the applicant was not 'offended, humiliated or intimidated by it', [29]. However, his Honour went on to find that the conduct amounted to sex discrimination, [31]-[33]; see 4.6.6 below.

^[2001] FMCA 91, [29].

²⁷⁹ See, for example, *Harwin v Pateluch* [1995] HREOCA 23 (extract at (1995) EOC 92-770).

²⁸⁰ [2000] FMCA 2.

²⁸¹ [2000] FMCA 2, [72].

Horman v Distribution Group [2001] FMCA 52, [44], [64], citing with approval the decision of the New Zealand Employment Tribunal in L v M Ltd (1994) EOC 92-617; Wong v Su [2001] FMCA 108, [18]; Daley v Barrington [2003] FMCA 93, [33]-[34]; Font v Paspaley Pearls Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 142, [130]. ²⁸³ (1988) 80 ALR 1.

²⁸⁴ (1988) 80 ALR 1, 5, cited with approval in *Hall v Sheiban* (1989) 20 FCR 217, 247 (Wilcox J).

doctor. Moore J found that the conduct of the respondent, which involved fondling the applicant's breast, patting her on the bottom, trying to kiss her, massaging her shoulders and brushing against her breasts was conduct of a sexual nature and unwelcome. Relevantly, his Honour noted:

> the applicant was, at the time, a teenager and the respondent a middle-aged medical practitioner. In that context it is difficult to avoid the conclusion that [the conduct of the respondent] was unwelcome as were the sexual references or allusions specifically directed to the applicant. 286

In relation to other conduct involving discussions about sexual matters, however, his Honour held:

> the applicant bears the onus of establishing that the conduct was unwelcome and I entertained sufficient doubt that it would have been apparent to the respondent that these general discussions were unwelcome (particularly given that the applicant did not complain about the discussions at the time and participated in general discussions the respondent had with his friends about topics of current interest) to find, affirmatively, that this conduct was unwelcome: see O'Callaghan v Loder [1983] 3 NSWLR 89 at 103-104.287

It should be noted that this statement of the test appears to introduce an objective element, contrary to the weight of authority.

While the behaviour of an applicant, including inappropriate behaviour, may be relevant in assessing whether or not the conduct was 'unwelcome', such behaviour does not disqualify an applicant from claiming sexual harassment by way of other behaviour. In Horman v Distribution Group Ltd, 288 Raphael FM held that while the conduct of the applicant resulted in a number of her claims of harassment being unsuccessful, 'everyone [is] entitled to draw a line somewhere' and certain of the activities complained about 'crossed that line'.289

In Wong v Su,²⁹⁰ Driver FM held that there was no reliable evidence to support the applicant's claim that the respondent's conduct, although of a sexual nature, was unwelcome. Rather it was held that the sexual relationship between the parties was voluntarily entered into and continued for a considerable number of years.

In Daley v Barrington, 291 Raphael FM found that words to the effect of '[l]et's go over to the horse stalls I'll show you what a man can do' had been spoken to the applicant by the second respondent. However, his Honour also found that the applicant's reaction to the words being spoken was 'friendly and included putting an arm around' the second respondent. In these circumstances, Raphael FM stated:

> I am not satisfied that the remark made was unwelcome to this applicant even if I would otherwise have found that a reasonable person would be offended, humiliated or intimidated by it. 292

The applicant's response to the conduct complained of was also considered in San v Dirluck Pty Ltd. 293 In this case, the applicant alleged she was sexually harassed during

²⁸⁸ [2001] FMCA 52. ²⁸⁹ [2001] FMCA 52, [64].

²⁸⁶ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 277 [107].

²⁸⁷ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 277 [108].

²⁹⁰ [2001] FMCA 108.

²⁹¹ [2003] FMCA 93.

²⁹² [2003] FMCA 93, [34].

²⁹³ (2005) 222 ALR 91.

her employment at a butcher shop by her manager, Mr Lamb. Raphael FM found that the conduct of Mr Lamb, which involved regularly greeting the applicant with the question 'How's your love life' and on one occasion stating 'I haven't seen an Asian come before', was conduct of a sexual nature and unwelcome. Relevantly, Raphael FM stated:

I do not subscribe to the theory put forward by the respondents that because Ms San did not make many direct complaints to Mr Lamb and did on occasion answer him back that this indicated that she accepted the remarks as ordinary employee banter. Firstly... it appeared to be directed almost exclusively at Ms San and secondly I accepts Ms San's evidence and the submissions made on her behalf that she saw Mr Lamb, who was for a time the manager of the premises, as a person in a superior position to her to whom she would have, at least to some extent, to defer. It would not be easy for her to tell him that she found the remarks unwelcome. I accept that she took what steps she could personally by answering very shortly and then by responding positively to alleviate the situation.²⁹⁴

4.6.3 Single incidents

It is accepted that a one-off incident can amount to sexual harassment, as well as ongoing behaviour.

In *Hall v Sheiban*,²⁹⁵ all three members of the Federal Court in separate judgments expressed the view that the then s 28(3) of the SDA (now replaced by s 28A) was capable of including a single incident. Lockhart J stated that s 28(3) 'provide[d] no warrant for necessarily importing a continuous or repeated course of conduct'.²⁹⁶ Both Wilcox²⁹⁷ and French²⁹⁸ JJ expressed the view that while the ordinary English meaning of the word 'harass' implies repetition, s 28(3) did not contain such an element and did not use the word 'harass' to define sexual harassment. French J emphasised that 'circumstances, including the nature and relationship of the parties may stamp conduct as unwelcome the first and only time it occurs'.²⁹⁹ This approach has been adopted in other sexual harassment cases.³⁰⁰

4.6.4 The 'reasonable person' test

Under s 28A(1) of the SDA, a person sexually harasses another if the person engages in unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature in relation to the person harassed 'in circumstances in which a reasonable person, having regard to all the circumstances, would have anticipated that the person harassed would be offended, humiliated or intimidated'.

²⁹⁶ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 231.

²⁹⁴ (2005) 222 ALR 91, 98 [23].

²⁹⁵ (1989) 20 FCR 217.

²⁹⁷ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 247.

²⁹⁸ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 279.

²⁹⁹ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 279.

³⁰⁰ See, for example, the judgement of Driver FM in *Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd* [2001] FMCA 91, [25], applying *Hall v Sheiban* (1989) 20 FCR 217 and *Leslie v Graham* (Unreported, HREOC, Commissioner Innes, 21 July 2000).

Determining whether a reasonable person would have anticipated that the person harassed would be offended, humiliated or intimidated entails an objective test.³⁰¹

In *Johanson v Blackledge*,³⁰² Driver FM held that it is not necessary for an applicant alleging sexual harassment to be the conscious target of the conduct, and that an accidental act can therefore constitute harassment. As noted above, in that matter, a customer was sold a dog bone by one employee which had been fashioned into the shape of a penis by other employees. Driver FM accepted that the bone had been intended for another person and was accidentally provided to the applicant. His Honour nevertheless found there to be sexual harassment, stating:

Having regard to the necessary elements establishing harassment for the purposes of s 28A and s 28G, I do not accept the submission that an accidental act cannot constitute sexual harassment. It is clear that there have been instances where employers have been found liable for harassment of employees in circumstances where offensive posters or other offensive material have been left around the workplace and seen by the complainant. In some instances this material was on display prior to the arrival of the complainant in the workplace. In G v R and the Department of Health, Housing and Community Services (unreported, HREOC, 23 August 1993) a toy in [the] form of a jack-in-the-box with a penis substituted for the normal figure was put on the desk of the complainant's husband. Other employees passed comments about the toy but these were not directed at the complainant. The complaint failed for other reasons but Sir Ronald Wilson found that the conduct complained of could constitute sexual harassment of the complainant even though she was not the target. Clearly, it is not necessary that the complainant be the conscious target of the offensive conduct. Sexual harassment can occur where the conduct is directed at a limited class of people (eg employees). I see no material difference in the case of conduct directed at customers or potential customers. Once a person chooses to engage in conduct of a sexual nature in which another person, whether the intended target or not, who has not sought or invited the conduct, experiences offence, humiliation or intimidation and, in the circumstances, a reasonable person would have anticipated that reaction, the elements of sexual harassment are made out. 303

In *Horman v Distribution Group Ltd*,³⁰⁴ the evidence before Raphael FM was to the effect that the applicant had engaged in behaviour including crude and vulgar language, disclosure of personal information and the display of sexually explicit photographs of herself. Nevertheless, Raphael FM said:

I do not think that it necessarily follows that a person in the position of the applicant would still not be offended, humiliated or intimidated by some of the actions and remarks that I have found were made. To do this would assume an assent to a form of anarchy in the workplace that I do not believe a person in the position of the applicant would subscribe to. It is also significant that even Ms Gough [a co-employee], who was otherwise accepting of almost all the forms of behaviour that took place wanted to draw a line at the use of certain words. There

Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58, 75 [84]-[85]; Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd [2001] FMCA 91,
 [24]-[25]; Horman v Distribution Group Ltd [2001] FMCA 52, [50]; Wattle v Kirkland [2001] FMCA 66, [46];
 Aleksovski v Australia Asia Aerospace Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 81, [83]; Elliott v Nanda (2001) 111 FCR 240, 277
 [109]; Kennedy v ADI Ltd [2001] FCA 614; Wattle v Kirkland (No 2) [2002] FMCA 135, [67]; Font v Paspaley
 Pearls Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 142, [134]; San v Dirluck Pty Ltd (2005) 222 ALR 91.
 302 (2001) 163 FLR 58.

³⁰³ (2001) 163 FLR 58, 76 [89].

³⁰⁴ [2001] FMCA 52.

was no denying of Ms Gough's entitlement to draw such lines, why should the applicant not be permitted the same right?³⁰⁵

In relation to evidence of the applicant's own use of 'crude and vulgar language', Raphael FM stated that:

I am not sure that a reasonable person would not anticipate that the applicant would be offended, humiliated or intimidated by bad language solely because the applicant herself also used it from time to time. ³⁰⁶

Similarly, in *San v Dirluck Pty Ltd*, ³⁰⁷ the respondents' witnesses gave evidence of conduct by the applicant which indicated that she made racist and sexist remarks. Raphael FM stated:

the fact that Ms San may have made these remarks or acted in this way does not excuse any breaches of the Act by others. Her conduct could only go to consideration of whether the sexual remarks directed at her were likely to offend, humiliate or intimidate her.³⁰⁸

And further:

a reasonable person having heard the evidence of Ms San that she said to Mr Teasel 'what the fuck is your problem' would not consider that she would have been offended when she was told to 'fuck off' by Mr Lamb. It might also be argued in those circumstances that the use of the word 'fuck' did not constitute conduct of a sexual nature. But the gravamen of the allegations against Mr Lamb is not the simple use of swear words in conversation but the making of remarks of a sexual nature directed at the applicant consistently and almost exclusively.³⁰⁹

Raphael FM was satisfied that a reasonable person would have anticipated that the applicant would be offended, humiliated or intimidated by the conduct of the respondent, Mr Lamb.³¹⁰ Raphael FM was also satisfied that Mr Lamb's statement 'I haven't seen an Asian come before' constituted unwelcome conduct and such conduct could reasonably be anticipated to have offended the applicant.³¹¹

In *Font v Paspaley Pearls Pty Ltd*³¹² ('*Font*'), Raphael FM found that the second respondent, Mr Purkis, had said to the applicant, in reference to the modelling of a pearl bikini at a promotional function: 'I need someone to model the bikini. Can you do it?' Raphael FM found that the comment was conduct of a sexual nature, but was not satisfied that a reasonable person would have anticipated that the applicant would have been offended, humiliated or intimidated by the comment.³¹⁴

The applicant in *Font* also complained of physical contact involving a slap and also a jab with a walking stick on 'the rear' by the second respondent. His Honour found this to constitute sexual harassment. In doing so, Raphael FM refused to accept that a 'defence of homosexuality' might apply³¹⁵ – the second respondent, it was accepted, was a gay man. His Honour noted that the fact that a person conducts themselves in a

³¹⁴ [2002] FMCA 142, [130].

^{305 [2001]} FMCA 52, [51].
306 [2001] FMCA 52, [49].
307 (2005) 222 ALR 91.
308 (2005) 222 ALR 91, 99 [27].
309 (2005) 222 ALR 91, 102 [33].
310 (2005) 222 ALR 91 102 [33].
311 (2005) 222 ALR 91, 103 [34].
312 [2002] FMCA 142.
313 [2002] FMCA 142, [17].

manner which would otherwise be in breach of s 28A cannot be negated by the fact that the person may not have any sexual designs upon the victim:

The SDA is a protective Act. It is designed to protect people from the type of behaviour which other members of the community would consider inappropriate by reason of its sexual connotation. It is the actions themselves that have to be assessed, not the person who is carrying them out.³¹⁶

Further to this, Raphael FM concluded that there is no requirement in the SDA that the protagonist should be of a different sex or of a different sexual preference to the victim.³¹⁷

In *Elliott v Nanda*,³¹⁸ the applicant was employed as a receptionist by the respondent. Moore J found that the employer's touching of the applicant and the making of sexual references or allusions directed to the applicant amounted to unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature. In making that finding his Honour noted the applicant was a teenager, and the respondent, a middle aged medical practitioner. His Honour said there could be little doubt that the conduct was such that a reasonable person would have anticipated that the applicant would be at least offended and humiliated by the conduct.³¹⁹

In *Beamish v Zheng*,³²⁰ the applicant complained of a range of conduct by the respondent co-worker, including sexual comments, an attempt to touch her breasts and an offer of \$200 to have sex with him. In finding for the applicant, Driver FM stated:

The workplace in which Mr Zheng and Ms Beamish worked was a fairly rough and tumble place in which lighthearted behaviour was tolerated. In the circumstances, a certain amount of sexual banter could have been anticipated. However, Mr Zheng's conduct was persistent and went beyond anything that could be described as lighthearted sexual banter. Ms Beamish's reactions to his conduct should have made clear that it was unwelcome. In the circumstances, a reasonable person would have anticipated that Ms Beamish would have been offended, humiliated or intimidated by Mr Zheng's persistent conduct. In particular, the attempt to touch her breasts was unacceptable and the offer of money for sex was grossly demeaning.³²¹

In *Bishop v Takla*,³²² the applicant complained that her co-worker engaged in a range of conduct which constituted sexual harassment, including sexual remarks and physical contact. One such incident involved the respondent telling the applicant that he wanted to come up to a nightclub where she was working in another job, to which the applicant suggested that he come with his girlfriend. He responded that 'maybe I will come on my own'. ³²³ Raphael FM found that a 'reasonable person may well have anticipated that she might be intimidated by this'. ³²⁴

³¹⁶ [2002] FMCA 142, [134].

³¹⁷ [2002] FMCA 142, [134].

³¹⁸ (2001) 111 FCR 240.

³¹⁹ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 277 [107]-[109].

³²⁰ [2004] FMCA 60.

³²¹ [2004] FMCA 60, [16].

³²² [2004] FMCA 74.

³²³ [2004] FMCA 74, [11].

³²⁴ [2004] FMCA 74, [34].

Sexual harassment as a form of sex discrimination 4.6.5

The relationship between sexual harassment and discrimination on the ground of sex has been the subject of significant judicial consideration. Prior to the legislative proscription of 'sexual harassment' by the Commonwealth and all of the States and Territories, the NSW Equal Opportunity Tribunal held that unwelcome sexual conduct was sex discrimination under the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW) (as it then was) in the decision of O'Callaghan v Loder. 325

The issue also arose in relation to the SDA in Aldridge v Booth, 326 which was heard after the sexual harassment provisions were introduced (ss 28 and 29 as they then were). Spender J held that sexual harassment was a form of sex discrimination.³²⁷ This finding was necessary for reasons relating to the constitutional validity of the sexual harassment provisions of the SDA as CEDAW does not expressly deal with sexual harassment.

Spender J's decision was approved in Hall v Sheiban³²⁸ by French J who held that s 28 of the SDA (the precursor to the current sexual harassment provisions in the SDA):

> puts beyond doubt that sexual harassment is a species of unlawful sex discrimination... [t]he requirements of s14 relating to discriminatory treatment in the terms and conditions of employment or subjection to detriment are subsumed in the nature of the prohibited conduct. 329

While Lockhart J stated that it was an 'open question' as to whether the prohibition of sex discrimination included sexual harassment, he stated that 'a finding that s 14 does not include sexual harassment of the kind to which s 28 is directed would appear contrary to the trend of judicial opinion'. 330

In *Elliott v Nanda*³³¹ ('*Elliott*'), Moore J stated:

I respectfully agree with the statement of French J in Hall v Sheiban and of Spender J in Aldridge v Booth that s 14 is capable of extending to conduct that constitutes sexual harassment under Div 3 of Pt II. In my opinion, such a principle is consistent with the purpose and scheme of [the] SD Act and also with the overseas jurisprudence set out in Hall v Sheiban and O'Callaghan v Loder on the nature and scope of 'sex discrimination'. 332

Moore J also cited with approval decisions of HREOC which had clearly proceeded on the basis that conduct is capable of constituting both sex discrimination under ss 5 and 14 and sexual harassment under Division 3 of Part II of the SDA.333 In the case before him, Moore J was satisfied the conduct of the respondent was in breach of s 14(2)(d):

> I have found that the conduct of the respondent involving touching the applicant and the sexual references or allusions specifically directed to the applicant were

³²⁵ [1983] 3 NSWLR 89. ³²⁶ (1988) 80 ALR 1.

³²⁷ (1988) 80 ALR 1, 16-17.

³²⁸ (1989) 20 FCR 217.

³²⁹ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 277.

³³⁰ (1989) 20 FCR 217, 235.

³³¹ (2001) 111 FCR 240.

³³² (2001) 111 FCR 240, 281 [127].

^{333 (2001) 111} FCR 240, 281-282 [128]. His Honour cited: W v Abrop Pty Ltd [1996] HREOCA 11 (extract at (1996) EOC 92-858); Phillips v Leisure Coast Removals Pty Ltd [1997] HREOCA 21 (extract at (1997) EOC 92-899); Brown v Lemeki [1997] HREOCA 25; Biedermann v Moss [1998] HREOCA 7.

unwelcome, offensive and humiliating to the applicant and that a reasonable person would have anticipated as much. I am therefore satisfied that they imposed a detriment, within the meaning of s 14(2)(d), on the applicant on the grounds of her sex.334

The same approach has been taken in a number of other cases.³³⁵

In Gilroy v Angelov³³⁶ ('Gilroy'), Wilcox J expressed reservations about whether s 14 applied in cases which involved the sexual harassment of one employee by another.337 In that case, his Honour found that an employee had sexually harassed another employee within the meaning of s 28A and that their employer was vicariously liable under s 106. The applicant also contended that she had been discriminated against under ss 5 and 14 of the SDA. His Honour expressed reservations about whether s 14 applied and stated that s 28B was enacted specifically to deal with such complaints:

> I have reservations as to whether s 14(1) or (2) applies to this case. I think these subsections are intended to deal with acts or omissions of the employer that discriminate on one of the proscribed grounds. It is artificial to extend the concepts embodied in those sections in such a manner as to include the sexual harassment of the employee by another. As it seems to me, it was because s14 did not really fit that case that s28B was enacted. To my mind, s28B covers this case. 338

Similarly, in Leslie v Graham³³⁹ ('Leslie'), although Branson J agreed that s 14 was capable of extending to conduct that constituted sexual harassment as defined by s 28A, 340 her Honour was not persuaded that s 14 applied in cases which involved the sexual harassment of one employee by another.³⁴¹ In that case, Branson J found that an employee had sexually harassed another employee within the meaning of s 28B and that their employer was vicariously liable for that conduct. However, Branson J went on to state:

> while [the SDA] renders unlawful discrimination by an employer on the ground of sex, it does not render unlawful discrimination by a fellow employee on the ground of sex... I am not persuaded that [the respondent employee's] sexual harassment of [the applicant] constituted discrimination against her by her employer. 342

³³⁴ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 282 [130]. That finding was necessary because under s 105 of the SDA a person will only be liable for aiding or permitting an act which is unlawful under Division 1 or 2 of Part II of the SDA. See further discussion of s 105 at 4.10 below.

³³⁵ Horman v Distribution Group Ltd [2001] FMCA 52; Wattle v Kirkland [2001] FMCA 66; Wattle v Kirkland (No 2) [2002] FMCA 135, [67] (where Driver FM expressly applied the reasoning of French J in Hall v Sheiban (1988) 20 FCR 217, 274-277 and Moore J in Elliott v Nanda (2001) 111 FCR 240, 281-282 [125]-[130]); Font v Paspaley Pearls Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 142, [136]-[139]; Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58. The Johanson case involved sexual harassment in the provision of goods and services. Driver FM held that in order to constitute sex discrimination within the meaning of ss 5 and 22 of the SDA, the respondents must have engaged in some conduct which was deliberate and which was referable to the applicant's sex, or a characteristic of her sex (applying the reasoning in Jamal v Secretary of Department of Health (1988) EOC 92-234). Driver FM concluded that this test had been satisfied on the evidence: (2001) 163 FLR 58, 79-80 [95]-[96]. (2000) 181 ALR 57.

³³⁷ In *Elliott v Nanda* (2001) 111 FCR 240, Moore J distinguished the decision in *Gilroy* on this basis. Moore J stated that 'the circumstances [Wilcox J] was considering differed from the present case, in that the harassment was there perpetrated by an employee, not by the employer'. Moore J went on to state 'to the extent that [Wilcox J] could be taken to have expressed the view that s 28B was enacted because it is artificial to extend s 14 to situations of sexual harassment, I would respectfully disagree' (281 [127]). ³³⁸ (2000) 181 ALR 57, 75 [102].

³³⁹ [2002] FCA 32.

³⁴⁰ [2002] FCA 32, [73], citing *Elliott v Nanda* (2001) 111 FCR 240.

Note that Branson J did not refer to the decision in *Gilroy* in her judgment.

³⁴² [2002] FCA 32, [73].

In *Hughes v Car Buyers Pty Ltd*, ³⁴³ Walters FM expressly disagreed with the decision of Branson J in *Leslie* on this issue. Walters FM found that the actions of a fellow employee of the applicant constituted not only sexual harassment, but also sex discrimination within the meaning of s 14(2)(d) of the SDA. ³⁴⁴ Walters FM also found that the respondent employer was vicariously liable for the employees conduct and had itself unlawfully discriminated against the applicant on the ground of her sex. ³⁴⁵

Federal Magistrate Rimmer came to a similar view in *Frith v The Exchange Hotel*.³⁴⁶ His Honour found that although the fellow employee may not, in that case, have discriminated against the applicant on the grounds of sex within the meaning and contemplation of s 14, the effect of s 106 of the SDA is that the employer is deemed to have also done the relevant acts thereby triggering the provisions of s 14.³⁴⁷

4.6.6 Sex-based harassment and sex discrimination

Conduct which falls short of sexual harassment may nevertheless constitute sex discrimination if it amounts to less favourable treatment by reason of sex. In *Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd*,³⁴⁸ for example, the applicant complained of the behaviour of her supervisor. This was found not to constitute sexual harassment (see 4.6.1 above). Driver FM found that the behaviour did, however, amount to sex discrimination:

I find that Mr Ong subjected Ms Cooke to a detriment by reason of her sex in the course of his supervision of her. Mr Ong's supervision of Ms Cooke was more objectionable and more vexing than it would have been if she had been a man. In Shaw v Perpetual Trustees Tasmania Limited (1993) EOC 92-550 HREOC found that the complainant had established unlawful conduct within the meaning of the SDA insofar as her supervisor's treatment of her made her feel uncomfortable, unwelcome and victimised and this treatment was in part referable to her sex. The Commission found that the existence of a personality clash between the complainant and her supervisor did not exclude a characterisation of his conduct as hostile conduct based at least in part on the complainant's sex. The Commission found that it was sufficient if the sex of the aggrieved person was a reason for the discriminatory conduct. It was not necessary that it be the substantial or dominant reason. I think that this is a substantially similar case. Part of the reason for Mr Ong's conduct was that he had very poor human relations skills, although he was technically highly competent. However, part of the reason for his treatment of Ms Cooke was that she was a woman and thus more susceptible to his controlling tendencies.349

4.7 Exemptions

Part II, Division 4 of the SDA creates a series of exemptions to some or all of the unlawful discrimination provisions in Part II, Divisions 1 and 2. The exemptions do

³⁴³ (2004) 210 ALR 645, 653 [42]-[43].

³⁴⁴ (2004) 210 ALR 645, 653 [41].

³⁴⁵ (2004) 210 ALR 645, 653 [44]. Like Branson J in *Leslie*, Walters FM did not refer to the decision in *Gilroy*. ³⁴⁶ (2005) 191 FLR 18.

³⁴⁷ (2005) 191 FLR 18, 38-39 [80]. Note Rimmer FM did not refer to the decision of Walters FM in *Hughes v Car Buyers Pty Ltd* (2004) 210 ALR 645, 653 [42]-[43].

³⁴⁸ [2001] FMCA 91.

³⁴⁹ [2001] FMCA 91, [33].

not operate in a blanket fashion.350 They are specific to the different forms of discrimination as defined in Part I of the SDA or the different areas where discrimination may be unlawful as proscribed by Part II, Divisions 1 and 2. In summary:

- Exemptions are created specific to discrimination on the ground of sex in the areas of genuine occupational qualification, 351 pregnancy or childbirth, 352 services for members of one sex, 353 accommodation provided solely for persons of one sex who are students at an educational institution,354 the care of children in the place where the child resides, 355 insurance, 356 sport 357 and combat duties. 358
- An exemption specific to marital status discrimination is created in the area of employment or contract work in relation to the care of children in the place where the child resides and where it is intended that the spouse of the employee or contract worker would also occupy a position as employee or contract worker.359
- Sections 41A and 41B create exemptions which are specific to discrimination in superannuation on the grounds of either sex or marital status.
- Exemptions are created that apply to discrimination on the grounds of sex, marital status or pregnancy in relation to employment or contract work at an educational institution established for religious purposes, 360 and in relation to the admission to, or receiving the benefits of, membership of a voluntary body.³⁶¹

The balance of the exemptions in Division 4 are not specific to any particular ground of discrimination but operate in the context of specific areas such as accommodation, 362 charities, 363 religious bodies 364 or an act done under statutory authority.365

The exemptions do not apply to the prohibitions of sexual harassment contained in Part II, Division 3 of the SDA.

Note also that s 44 empowers HREOC to grant a temporary exemption on the application of a person.³⁶⁶

³⁵⁰ See generally the Commonwealth Sex Discrimination Commissioner Report on Review of Permanent Exemptions under the Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (1992).

Section 30.

³⁵² Section 31. 353 Section 32.

³⁵⁴ Section 34(2).

³⁵⁵ Section 35(1).

³⁵⁶ Section 41.

³⁵⁷ Section 42.

³⁵⁸ Section 43. ³⁵⁹ Section 35(2).

³⁶⁰ Section 38(1) and (2).

³⁶¹ Section 39.

³⁶² Section 34(1).

³⁶³ Section 36.

³⁶⁴ Section 37.

³⁶⁵ Section 40.

³⁶⁶ HREOC has developed criteria and procedures to guide the Commission in exercising its discretion under s 44 of the SDA. HREOC's guidelines and further information about the temporary exemptions granted by HREOC are available at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/exemptions/sda_exemption/sda_exemptions.html.

Many of the exemptions are yet to be the subject of any detailed jurisprudence. Significant decisions which have considered those provisions are discussed below.

4.7.1 Services for members of one sex

Section 32 of the SDA provides:

32 Services for members of one sex

Nothing in Division 1 or 2 applies to or in relation to the provision of services the nature of which is such that they can only be provided to members of one sex.

In *McBain v Victoria*,³⁶⁷ the applicant challenged State legislation which prohibited the provision of fertility treatment to unmarried women not living in de facto relationships. This was found to be inconsistent with s 22 of the SDA which makes discrimination unlawful on the basis of marital status in the provision of goods, service and facilities. The State legislation was also found to be invalid under s 109 of the *Constitution* to the extent of the inconsistency (see 4.2.3 above).

As to the exemption in s 32, Sundberg J stated that it did not apply, as the service provided benefit to both men and women. His Honour stated:

Section 32 looks to the nature of the service provided. The nature of the service in question in this proceeding is to be determined by reference to the State Act. All infertility treatments are dealt with in the one legislative scheme. There is no breakdown of the eligibility requirements for each type of treatment. Parliament has, in effect, characterised the treatments as being of the same general nature, namely treatments aimed at overcoming obstacles to pregnancy. Accordingly, the nature of these treatments is such that they are capable of being provided to both sexes...The vice of the argument is that in order to bring the case within s 32 it is necessary to select from the scope of the service only that part of it that is provided on or with the assistance of a woman. Section 32 is intended to deal with services which are capable of being provided only to a man or only to a woman. ³⁶⁸

4.7.2 Voluntary bodies

Section 39 of the SDA provides:

39 Voluntary bodies

Nothing in Division 1 or 2 renders it unlawful for a voluntary body to discriminate against a person, on the ground of the person's sex, marital status or pregnancy, in connection with:

- (a) the admission of persons as members of the body; or
- (b) the provision of benefits, facilities or services to members of the body.

Section 4 of the SDA defines a voluntary body as:

an association or other body (whether incorporated or unincorporated) the activities of which are not engaged in for the purpose of making a profit, but does not include:

(a) a club;

³⁶⁸ (2000) 99 FCR 116, 121 [15].

³⁶⁷ (2000) 99 FCR 116. Note that proceedings challenging this decision were brought in the High Court, however, they were dismissed without consideration of the merits: *Re McBain; Ex parte Australian Catholic Bishops Conference* (2002) 209 CLR 372.

- (b) a registered organization;
- (c) a body established by a law of the Commonwealth, of a State or of a Territory; or
- (d) an association that provides grants, loans, credit or finance to its members.

In Gardner v All Australia Netball Association Ltd³⁶⁹ ('Gardner'), the respondent ('AANA') had imposed an interim ban preventing pregnant women from playing netball in the Commonwealth Bank Trophy, a national tournament administered by AANA. The applicant was pregnant when the ban was imposed and was prevented from playing in a number of matches as a result. She complained of discrimination on the basis of her pregnancy in the provision of services under s 22 of the SDA. The service in this case was the opportunity to participate in the competition as a player.

It was not disputed that AANA is a voluntary body for the purposes of the SDA, membership of which consisted of State and Territory netball associations. Individual netballers were not eligible to be members of AANA. AANA accepted that it had discriminated against the applicant. It argued, however, that its actions were protected by that exemption as they were 'in connection with' the provision of services to their member associations. Raphael FM decided that the exemption in s 39 did not apply. He held that it provided protection for voluntary bodies only in their relationships with their members but not in their relationships with non-members. The applicant was not, and could not be, a member of AANA.³⁷⁰ Accordingly the actions of AANA constituted unlawful discrimination under the SDA.

In *Kowalski v Domestic Violence Crisis Service Inc*,³⁷¹ the applicant complained that he had been discriminated against by the respondent. He alleged that employees of the Domestic Violence Crisis Service had spoken only to his wife when they attended their house and refused him their services and that this was by reason of his sex. Driver FM dismissed the application, finding that the applicant had not been given the service of the respondent because the employees of the service had been informed by the police that it was his wife who had complained of domestic violence and was requiring their services.³⁷² In relation to the issue of s 39 of the SDA, Driver FM's brief comment suggests an approach similar to that taken in *Gardner*:

The respondent had raised at the interlocutory stage of these proceedings a defence based on s.39 of the SDA. At trial, Ms Nomchong wisely did not press that

³⁶⁹ (2003) 197 ALR 28. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this case. Her submissions are available at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/netball.htm.

³⁷¹ [2003] FMCA 99.

³⁷² [2003] FMCA 99, [43]. On appeal in *Kowalski v Domestic Violence Crisis Service Inc* [2005] FCA 12, the appellant succeeded in establishing an error of fact which affected Driver FM's finding as to what was communicated to the Domestic Violence Crisis Service workers. Madgwick J found that the Domestic Violence Crisis Service workers were probably told that both the appellant and his wife had requested their attendance. However, the Court went onto state (at [68]):

The difficulty for the appellant is that, even if it is accepted that both he and his wife requested the DVCS workers' attendance, the circumstances as a whole must be considered, including that the primary complaint was that the husband was removing property. There is no record in the police log of any complaint by Mr Kowalski of any untoward behaviour at all on the part of his wife.

Madgwick J found that it was highly probable that what was conveyed to the workers was that it was the appellant's wife that was the complainant. The finding of Driver FM that there had been no discrimination against the appellant on the basis of gender or marital status was therefore upheld.

defence. Section 39 clearly has no application in these proceedings because Mr Kowalski was not a member of the respondent and was not seeking to join.³⁷³

4.7.3 Acts done under statutory authority

Section 40(1) of the SDA relevantly provides:

- (1) Nothing in Division 1 or 2 affects anything done by a person in direct compliance with:
 - (c) a determination or decision of the Commission;
 - (d) an order of a court; or
 - (e) an order or award of a court or tribunal having power to fix minimum wages and other terms and conditions of employment; or
 - a certified agreement (within the meaning of the Workplace (f) Relations Act 1996).

In Howe v Qantas Airways Ltd, 374 Driver FM considered the interpretation of s 40(1) of the SDA. In that case, the terms and conditions of the applicant's employment were substantially regulated by an enterprise agreement. The applicant alleged, inter alia, that the respondent had discriminated against her on the grounds of her pregnancy in the course of her employment.³⁷⁵ The respondent sought to rely on the s 40(1) exemption in response to certain of these allegations made by the applicant. In relation to the interpretation of s 40(1), Driver FM stated:

> I accept the submissions ... of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner [appearing as amicus curiae] that s.40(1) of the SDA should not be construed to protect acts which are consequential to compliance with an award or certified agreement ... In my view, s.40(1) of the SDA means what it says. The subsection protects, relevantly, anything done by a person in direct compliance (my emphasis) with a certified agreement ... [I]f the employer exercised a discretion in circumstances where the terms and conditions of employment were silent it could not be said that the respondent acted in direct compliance with the certified agreement.

> The limited available authority on the interpretation of s.40(1) and its State equivalents supports a narrow construction ... In order for there to be 'direct compliance' within the meaning of s.40(1), the action taken by the discriminator must have been 'made necessary' by the clause in the award or certified agreement in issue.³⁷⁶ (footnotes omitted)

4.7.4 Competitive sporting activity

Section 42(1) of the SDA creates an exemption for competitive sporting activity as follows:

³⁷³ [2003] FMCA 99, [45].

³⁷⁴ (2004) 188 FLR 1. The Sex Discrimination Commissioner appeared as amicus curiae in this matter and made submissions, inter alia, on the proper construction of s 40(1). The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_submissions_fifth.html. The Commissioner's supplementary submissions are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/howe_supplementary_submissions.html.

See further discussion of this case at 4.2.4, 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 above.

³⁷⁶ (2004) 188 FLR 1, 138 [82]-[83].

(1) Nothing in Division 1 or 2 renders it unlawful to exclude persons of one sex from participation in any competitive sporting activity in which the strength, stamina or physique of competitors is relevant.

It can be observed that the section does not explicitly state whether it applies only to mixed-sex sporting activity or same-sex sporting activity (or both).

The female applicant in Ferneley v The Boxing Authority of New South Wales³⁷⁷ was denied registration as a kick boxer by reason of the Boxing and Wrestling Control Act 1986 (NSW) which only provided for registration of males. The respondent contended that, even if it was found to be providing a service (see above 4.5.1) and thus bound by s 22, the exemption in s 42 of the SDA would apply.

The applicant, on the other hand, submitted that s 42 was intended to apply only

where the sporting competition involved men and women competing against each other. It was not intended to apply where the competitors were of the same sex. The terms of section 42 are intended to determine when a person of one sex may be excluded, so it implicitly assumes that men and women are competing with each other in the relevant competitive sporting competition. Section 42 is not concerned with same sex sports.³⁷⁸

The applicant's argument was supported by the Sex Discrimination Commissioner, who appeared as amicus curiae.³⁷⁹

In obiter comments, Wilcox J rejected the respondent's argument and held that s 42(1) is only concerned with mixed-sex sporting activities and has no application to same sex sporting activity. 380 His Honour noted:

> To apply s 42(1) to same-sex activities leads to strange results. For example, on that basis, a local government authority could lawfully adopt a policy of making its tennis courts, or its sporting ovals, available only to females (or only to males), an action that would otherwise obviously contravene s 22. Yet the authority might not be able to adopt the same policy in relation to the chess-room at its local lending library, and certainly could not do so in relation to the library itself. There would appear to be no rational reason for such a distinction.³⁸¹

In addition, his Honour noted that:

the concept of excluding 'persons of one sex' from participation in an activity implies that persons of the other sex are not excluded; the other sex is allowed to participate. This can be so only in respect of a mixed-sex activity.³⁸²

Furthermore, Wilcox J found that this approach was consistent with the intention of Parliament.383

4.8 **Victimisation**

Section 94 of the SDA prohibits victimisation, as follows:

³⁷⁷ (2001) 115 FCR 306.

³⁷⁸ (2001) 115 FCR 306, 324 [81].

The Sex Discrimination Commissioner made submissions specifically on the proper construction of s 42(1). The submissions of the Sex Discrimination Commissioner are available at:

http://www.humanrights.gov.au/legal/submissions_court/amicus/ferneley.html. (2001) 115 FCR 306, 325-326 [89]-[94].

³⁸¹ (2001) 115 FCR 306, 325-326 [90].

³⁸² (2001) 115 FCR 306, 326 [91].

³⁸³ (2001) 115 FCR 306, 326 [92].

94 Victimisation

- (1) A person shall not commit an act of victimization against another person. Penalty:
 - (a) in the case of a natural person—\$2,500 or imprisonment for 3 months, or both; or
 - (b) in the case of a body corporate—\$10,000.
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1), a person shall be taken to commit an act of victimization against another person if the first-mentioned person subjects, or threatens to subject, the other person to any detriment on the ground that the other person:
 - (a) has made, or proposes to make, a complaint under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986*;
 - (b) has brought, or proposes to bring, proceedings under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986* against any person;
 - (c) has furnished, or proposes to furnish, any information, or has produced, or proposes to produce, any documents to a person exercising or performing any power or function under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986*;
 - (d) has attended, or proposes to attend, a conference held under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986*;
 - (e) has appeared, or proposes to appear, as a witness in a proceeding under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986*;
 - (f) has reasonably asserted, or proposes to assert, any rights of the person or the rights of any other person under this Act or the *Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Act 1986*; or
 - (g) has made an allegation that a person has done an act that is unlawful by reason of a provision of Part II;

or on the ground that the first-mentioned person believes that the other person has done, or proposes to do, an act or thing referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (g), inclusive.

This section is in essentially identical terms to s 42 of the DDA, discussed at 5.6, and the cases relevant under one Act are therefore relevant in applying the other. As with s 42 of the DDA, a breach of s 94 of the SDA may give rise to civil and/or criminal proceedings.³⁸⁴ This is because the definition of 'unlawful discrimination' in s 3 of the HREOC Act specifically includes conduct that is an offence under s 94.

Section 94(2) requires that the relevant detriment be 'on the ground that' the person has done or proposed to do one of the things listed in paragraphs (a)-(g). In *Orford v Western Mining Corporation (Olympic Dam Operations) Pty Ltd*, ³⁸⁵ Commissioner McEvoy held that this required that '[t]he action must be taken for the particular prohibited reason and for no other'. ³⁸⁶ However, it would now appear to be settled that the prohibited reason need not be the sole factor, but must be a 'substantial or

_

³⁸⁴ See, for example, *Lee v Smith & Ors* [2007] FMCA 59, [211]; *Johnston v Lemeki v Govt Papua New Guinea* [1997] HREOCA 26.

³⁸⁵ [1998] HREOCA 22. ³⁸⁶ [1998] HREOCA 22, [5.1].

operative' factor in causing the alleged detriment.387 This is consistent with the approach taken to this issue in applying s 42 of the DDA.388

4.9 **Vicarious Liability**

Section 106 of the SDA provides:

106 Vicarious liability etc

- Subject to subsection (2), where an employee or agent of a person does, in connection with the employment of the employee or with the duties of the agent as an agent:
 - (a) an act that would, if it were done by the person, be unlawful under Division 1 or 2 of Part II (whether or not the act done by the employee or agent is unlawful under Division 1 or 2 of Part II); or
 - an act that is unlawful under Division 3 of Part II; (b)

this Act applies in relation to that person as if that person had also done

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply in relation to an act of a kind referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b) done by an employee or agent of a person if it is established that the person took all reasonable steps to prevent the employee or agent from doing acts of the kind referred to in that paragraph.

The following issues are considered in this section:

- onus of proof;
- 'in connection with' employment;
- 'all reasonable steps'; and
- vicarious liability for victimisation.

4.9.1 **Onus of Proof**

The applicant bears the onus of proof for the purposes of s 106(1) in establishing that there is a relationship of employment or agency and that the alleged act of discrimination occurred 'in connection with' the employment of an employee or duties of an agent.389

An employer or principal who seeks to rely on the defence in s 106(2) bears the onus of proof of establishing that it took all reasonable steps to prevent the alleged acts taking place.³⁹⁰

³⁸⁷ Obieta v NSW Department of Education & Training [2007] FCA 86, [240]; Huang v University of NSW [2008] FMCA 11, [120]; Damiano v Wilkinson [2004] FMCA 891, [22]; Bailey v Australian National University (1995) EOC 92-744.

See, for example, Penhall-Jones v New South Wales [2007] FCA 925, [85].

³⁸⁹ Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd [2001] FMCA 91, [35].

³⁹⁰ Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd [2001] FMCA 91, [35]. See also Aldridge v Booth (1988) 80 ALR 1, 12 (Spender J in obiter comments).

4.9.2 'In connection with' employment

Vicarious liability extends only to those acts done 'in connection with' the employment of an employee or with the duties 'of an agent as an agent' (s 106(1)).

The phrase 'in connection with' has been held to have a more expansive meaning than that given to expressions used in other general law contexts such as 'in the course of' or 'in the scope of'. In *McAlister v SEQ Aboriginal Corporation*³⁹¹ ('*McAlister*'), Rimmer FM stated that the clear intention of s 106(1) in using the word 'connection' was 'to catch those acts that are properly connected with the duties of an employee'.³⁹²

Particular attention has been given to the phrase in cases involving acts of sexual harassment by one employee against another in a location away from the actual workplace.

In *Leslie v Graham*³⁹³ ('*Leslie*'), sexual harassment was held to have occurred in the early hours of the morning in a serviced apartment that the complainant and another employee were sharing whilst attending a work related conference. In considering whether the conduct constituted sexual harassment of one employee by a fellow employee, Branson J³⁹⁴ noted that when the harassment occurred the employment relationship of the two people involved was a continuing one, they were sharing the apartment in the course of their common employment and the apartment was accommodation provided to them by their employer for the purpose of attending a conference. Her Honour concluded that the employer was vicariously liable pursuant to s 106(1) of the SDA.

In South Pacific Resort Hotels Pty Ltd v Trainor,³⁹⁵ the Full Federal Court upheld the first instance decision³⁹⁶ that found the employer vicariously liable for the actions of its employee who had sexually harassed another employee while off duty in staff accommodation quarters. The Full Court applied the reasoning in Leslie and held that there was a sufficient connection between the acts of the perpetrator and his employment. Relevantly, the acts of sexual harassment took place in accommodation occupied (albeit in separate rooms) by both employees because of, and for the purposes of, their common employment.³⁹⁷ It could not be said that the common employment was unrelated or merely incidental to the sexual harassment of one by the other.³⁹⁸ In fact, the connection between the employment and the acts in question was even closer than was the case in Leslie because a prohibition on staff having visitors in the staff accommodation meant that, absent any special arrangements by the employer, only staff were permitted there. It was therefore only by virtue of being staff that the two employees were in the premises where the acts of sexual harassment occurred.³⁹⁹

Black CJ and Tamberlin JJ held:

³⁹¹ [2002] FMCA 109.

³⁹² [2002] FMCA 109, [135].

³⁹³ [2002] FCA 32.

³⁹⁴ [2002] FCA 32, [71].

³⁹⁵ (2005) 144 FCR 402. For a discussion of this case, see Christine Fougere, 'Where does the workplace end? – Vicarious liability for sexual harassment?' (2005) 43(10) *Law Society Journal* 47.

³⁹⁶ Trainor v South Pacific Resort Hotels Pty Ltd (2004) 186 FLR 132.

³⁹⁷ South Pacific Resort Hotels Pty Ltd v Trainor (2005) 144 FCR 402, 409 [39] (Black CJ and Tamberlin JJ with whom Kiefel J agreed).

³⁹⁸ (2005) 144 FCR 402, 409 [39].

³⁹⁹ (2005) 144 FCR 402, 409 [40] (Black CJ and Tamberlin JJ with whom Kiefel J agreed).

The expression 'in connection with' in its context in s 106(1) of the SDA is a broad one of practical application...

We would add that the expression chosen by the Parliament to impose vicarious liability for sexual harassment would seem, on its face, to be somewhat wider than the familiar expression 'in the course of' used with reference to employment in cases about vicarious liability at common law or in the distinctive context of workers compensation statutes. Nevertheless cases decided in these other fields can have, at best, only limited value in the quite different context of the SDA. 400

In a separate judgment, Kiefel J referred to extrinsic materials and international jurisprudence to make some general observations about the application of s 106 of the SDA. Her Honour agreed with the majority view that a wide operation should be given to s 106(1) and the words 'in connection with the employment of an employee', 401 and warned against arguments that seek to import the doctrine of vicarious liability in tort into the SDA. 402

The broad scope of s 106(1) was confirmed in Lee v Smith⁴⁰³ in which the Commonwealth (Department of Defence) was held vicariously liable for the actions of its employees who subjected the applicant, a civilian administrator at a Cairns naval base, to sexual harassment, discrimination, victimisation and ultimately rape by the first respondent. Connolly FM found that the rape:

> occurred between two current employees and in my view it arose out of a work situation. The applicant was invited to attend after-work drinks by a fellow employee and indeed the invitation was issued at the behest of the first respondent. Further, the rape itself was the culmination of a series of sexual harassments that took place in the workplace and would not have occurred but for the collusion of ...two fellow employees who made concerted efforts over a period of time to make arrangements for the applicant and first respondent to attend dinner at their residence. The applicant's attendance was clearly because of the original afterworks drinks invitation and it was likely that the invitation was provided in that form to ensure the applicant's attendance. There is no doubt that it not only had the potential to adversely affect the working environment but it did so...⁴⁰⁴

In determining the issue of the application of s 106(1) to the incident of rape, Connolly FM was satisfied that the rape was the culmination of earlier incidents of sexual harassment in the workplace and that the first respondent's conduct was an extension or continuation of his pattern of behaviour that had started and continued to develop in the workplace. 405 The nexus with the workplace was not broken. 406

57

 $^{^{400}}$ (2005) 144 FCR 402, 409-410 [41]-[42] (Black CJ and Tamberlin JJ with whom Kiefel J agreed). Applied in Lee v Smith [2007] FMCA 59, [205].

^{(2005) 144} FCR 402, 414 [64].

⁴⁰² (2005) 144 FCR 402, 414 [65].

^{403 [2007]} FMCA 59. For a discussion of this case, see Alex Newton, 'Beyond the common law: employer held responsible for rape by employee - Is this a new frontier in vicarious liability?' (2007) 45(6) Law Society Journal 38. 404 [2007] FMCA 59, [203].

⁴⁰⁵ [2007] FMCA 59, [206].

⁴⁰⁶ [2007] FMCA 59, [206].

4.9.3 'All reasonable steps'

A central issue in determining the vicarious liability defence under s 106 is the extent to which an employer must go to prevent sexual harassment. The availability of the defence under s 106(2) should be assessed rigorously with respect to the obligation to take 'all reasonable steps'.⁴⁰⁷

A number of principles can be gleaned from the cases.

• It is not necessary for a respondent to be aware of an incident of harassment for vicarious liability to apply. In *Aldridge v Booth*, Spender J stated, in obiter comments:

It is to be noted that pursuant to [s 106(2)], it is for an employer or principal to establish all reasonable steps to be taken by that employer or principal to prevent the acts constituting the unlawful conduct. The discharge of this onus, of course, depends on the particular circumstances of a case, but it is seriously to be doubted that it can be discharged in circumstances of mere ignorance or inactivity. In *Tidwell v American Oil Co* (1971) 332 F Supp 424 at 436 it was said: 'The modern corporate entity consists of the individuals who manage it, and little, if any, progress in eradicating discrimination in employment will be made if the corporate employer is able to hide behind the shield of individual employee action'.⁴¹⁰ (emphasis added)

- The requirement of reasonableness applies to the nature of the steps actually taken and not to determine whether it was reasonable to have taken steps in the first place.⁴¹¹
- The size of the employer will be relevant to the question of whether it took 'all reasonable steps' to prevent the employee or agent from doing the acts complained of, as it is unrealistic to expect all employers, regardless of size, to adhere to a common standard of preventative measures. The employer or principal must take some steps, the precise nature of which will be different according to the circumstances of the employer. ⁴¹² In *Johanson v Blackledge*, ⁴¹³ Driver FM stated:

it would be unrealistic to expect all employers, regardless of size, to adhere to a common standard of preventative measures. This defence has been interpreted in Australia as requiring the employer or principal to take some steps, the precise nature of which will be different according to the circumstances of the employer. Thus, large corporations will be expected to do more than small businesses in order to be held to have acted reasonably.⁴¹⁴

⁴⁰⁷ [2007] FMCA 59, [209].

⁴⁰⁸ Boyle v Ozden (1986) EOC 92-165; Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58.

⁴⁰⁹ (1988) 80 ALR 1.

⁴¹⁰ (1988) 80 ALR 1, 12.

⁴¹¹ Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58, 81 [101].

⁴¹² (2001) 163 FLR 58, 81 [101]. See also *McAlister v SEQ Aboriginal Corporation* [2002] FMCA 109, [143]; *Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd* [2001] FMCA 91, [37].

⁴¹³ (2001) 163 FLR 58.

⁴¹⁴ (2001) 163 FLR 58, 81 [101].

- Even in small businesses employers must have 'done something active to prevent the acts complained of' in order to make out the defence although this does not require a written sexual harassment policy. Examples of the kind of conduct that would assist in making out the defence for a small employer includes:
 - providing new employees with a brief document pointing out the nature of sexual harassment, the sanctions that attach to it and the course to be followed by any employee who feels sexually harassed;⁴¹⁷
 - informing employees that disciplinary action will be taken against them should they engage in sexual harassment, making available brochures containing information on sexual harassment, advising new staff that it is a condition of their employment that they should not sexually harass a customer or co-worker;⁴¹⁸ and
 - the existence of an effective complaint handling procedure to deal with complaints of harassment.⁴¹⁹
- Large corporations will be expected to do more than small businesses in order to be held to have acted reasonably. 420 For example, a clear sexual harassment policy should be in place. It should be available in written form and communicated to all members of the workforce. Continuing education on sexual harassment should also be undertaken. 421
- It is no excuse to a claim of sexual harassment to argue that an employee was not authorised to harass people (which might otherwise take the act outside the sphere of employment). 422

In *Shiels v James*, ⁴²³ the applicant was the only female employee on a building construction site. Raphael FM found in that case that the respondent was unable to satisfy the requirements of s 106(2) of the SDA because:

- Its anti-discrimination policy, 'good as it was', was not delivered to the applicant or indeed any of the workers on the site until six weeks after the applicant had commenced work and some four weeks after the allegations of sexual harassment.
- There was no verbal explanation of the policy nor was its existence specifically drawn to the attention of workers.
- The applicant could have expected that her interests would be looked after in a more direct manner in the particular circumstances in which she found herself, a lone female on a building site.

⁴¹⁵ Gilroy v Angelov (2000) 181 ALR 57.

⁴¹⁶ Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58, 82 [103].

⁴¹⁷ Gilroy v Angelov (2000) 181 ALR 57, 75 [100].

⁴¹⁸ Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58, 82 [105].

⁴¹⁹ (2001) 163 FLR 58, 82 [105].

⁴²⁰ (2001) 163 FLR 58, 81 [101]; McAlister v SEQ Aboriginal Corporation [2002] FMCA 109, [143]; Cooke v Plauen Holdings Pty Ltd [2001] FMCA 91, [37].

⁴²¹ Aleksovski v Australia Asia Aerospace Pty Ltd [2002] FMCA 81, [88].

⁴²² Johanson v Blackledge (2001) 163 FLR 58, 80-81 [99].

⁴²³ [2000] FMCA 2.

- The nominated sexual harassment contact people were based off-site and the applicant had little or no contact with them on a day-to-day basis.
- The applicant complained to the harasser about the incidents but he, although a senior employee of the company, did not desist from the behaviour.424

Vicarious liability for victimisation 4.9.4

In Taylor v Morrison, 425 Phipps FM considered an application for summary dismissal on the grounds that the SDA did not provide for vicarious liability for victimisation contrary to s 94. The Commonwealth argued that s 106, which provides for vicarious liability in relation to some sections of the SDA, did not extend to the proscription of victimisation contained in s 94 of the SDA. In dismissing the Commonwealth's application for summary dismissal, Phipps FM found that there were substantial arguments that the common law principles of vicarious liability nevertheless applied to claims of victimisation. 426 Connolly FM in Lee v Smith 427 took a similar approach and found that the Commonwealth was liable for the conduct by its employees in accordance with common law vicarious liability and agency. 428

Aiding or Permitting an Unlawful Act 4.10

Section 105 of the SDA provides:

105 Liability of persons involved in unlawful acts

A person who causes, instructs, induces, aids or permits another person to do an act that is unlawful under Division 1 or 2 of Part II shall, for the purposes of this Act, be taken also to have done the act.

Issues have arisen in a number of cases as to whether 'permitting' requires knowledge on the part of the 'permitter'.

In *Howard v Northern Territory*, 429 Sir Ronald Wilson held:

In my opinion, s 105 requires a degree of knowledge or at least wilful blindness or recklessness in the face of the known circumstances in order to attract the operation of the section. That knowledge does not have to go so far as to constitute knowledge of the unlawfulness of the proposed conduct but it must extend to an awareness of, or wilful blindness to, the circumstances which could produce a result, namely discrimination, which the Act declares to be unlawful.⁴³⁰

It can be observed that this approach does not necessarily require actual knowledge of the unlawfulness of the acts in question, but does require some actual or constructive knowledge of the surrounding circumstances by the respondent.

⁴²⁴ [2000] FMCA 2, [74].

⁴²⁵ [2003] FMCA 79.

^{426 [2003]} FMCA 79, [22]. 427 [2007] FMCA 59.

⁴²⁸ [2007] FMCA 59, [211]–[213].

⁴²⁹ (1995) EOC 92-672.

⁴³⁰ (1995) EOC 92-672, 78,133. Cited, in the context of the DDA, in *Cooper v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity* Commission (1999) 93 FCR 481, 494-495 [43].

In Elliott v Nanda, 431 the issue was whether the Commonwealth, through the Commonwealth Employment Service ('CES'), permitted acts of discrimination on the grounds of sex involving sexual harassment. The primary respondent was a medical doctor, who was also a Director of the medical centre. The applicant obtained employment as a receptionist with the doctor via services provided by the CES. There was evidence indicating that the CES knew that several young women placed with the respondent had made allegations to the effect that they had been sexually harassed in a manner that would constitute discrimination on the ground of sex. 432

Moore J cited with approval the decision of Madgwick J in Cooper v Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission 433 in relation to the materially identical provision of the DDA (s 122) to the effect that the notion of 'permitting' should not be approached narrowly.434 Moore J went on to state:

> In my opinion, a person can, for the purposes of s105, permit another person to do an act which is unlawful, such as discriminate against a woman on the ground of her sex, if, before the unlawful act occurs, the permitter knowingly places the victim of the unlawful conduct in a position where there is a real, and something more than a remote, possibility that the unlawful conduct will occur. That is certainly so in circumstances where the permitter can require the person to put in place measures designed to influence, if not control, the person's conduct or the conduct of the person's employees. 435

Moore J held that the CES had permitted the discrimination to take place as the number of complaints of sexual harassment from that workplace should have alerted the CES to the distinct possibility that any young female sent to work for the doctor was at risk of sexual harassment and discrimination on the basis of sex. 436 The fact that the particular caseworker who facilitated the employment of the applicant was probably unaware of those complaints was found by Moore J to be immaterial. His Honour said that the collective knowledge of the officers of the CES was to be treated as the knowledge of the Commonwealth. 437

⁴³¹ (2001) 111 FCR 240. ⁴³² Note in this regard that s 105 relates only to Divisions 1 and 2 of Part II of the SDA, discrimination in employment and other areas. It does not extend to Division 3 of Part II – the sexual harassment provisions.

^{(1999) 93} FCR 481. See 5.4.2 on the DDA for further discussion.

⁴³⁴ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 276-277 [160].

⁴³⁵ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 292-293 [163].

⁴³⁶ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 294-295 [169].

⁴³⁷ (2001) 111 FCR 240, 295 [170].